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Chairman’s Statement
FERE

AP

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (“Directors”) of CHINA
GREENFRESH GROUP CO., LTD. (the “Company”), | am pleased to present
the annual report of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the
financial year ended 31 December 2015 (the “Year”).

With various threat looming, the economy of the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC”) was hardly optimistic in 2015. The PRC’s economic
structure continued to adjust, the former practice of emphasizing on core
elements and basing on investment-driven was modified. High speed
growth gave way to their “new normal” of moderate-high speed growth.
In the course of transformation, the overall real economy slackened while
consumer confidence dropped significantly. Leveraging on our 20 years’
experience in operation and management, the stable production, supply
and marketing system, as well as flexible marketing strategies, we overcame
the challenge of the adverse environment and recorded a revenue of
RMB762,118,000 for the Year (2014: RMB545,665,000), represented an
increase of approximately 39.67%. Along with the ongoing progress of the
modernization of agriculture in the PRC, we, as the leader in industrialized
production of fungi in the PRC market, will demonstrate our leading edges in
the general enhancement and transformation of the industry. The expansion
of middle-class community, the enhancement of consumers’ health
awareness, as well as the upsurge in health supplements market in the PRC
together form a market with substantial potential. Leveraging our strength
in the production, research and development, technology and management
in the fungi industry, we develop new product line in a timely manner. We
established companies in Japan and Singapore, as well as a research and
development centre in Singapore at the same time. By taking advantage
of the local advanced technology to explore the healthcare products and
traditional Chinese patent medicine of edible mushrooms for the Group, we
took this opportunity to set foot in the “big health” industry. Riding on the
refined and mature research and development strength of overseas, we
pioneer the new area of healthcare products and traditional Chinese patent
medicine edible mushrooms which will become a new growth driver in the
Group’s business.

On behalf of the Board, | hereby express my wholehearted gratitude to all
the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) and employees for
their support and contribution throughout the Year. | believe, with the joint
efforts of the Board and the management, we will achieve better results and
create bigger values for our Shareholders in 2016 !
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BRal([AE£E|EZE20156F12 831 B BT BF
EREDHFERS -

2015F R BHAETRLEE  BHEE - FEA
REMB([HEDEELEBFERAE  RE UG
NEER REBRDAEIHIR  KaREREA
PERERN [FER] TENHERLER
BEZFEH  HEELHBE TR - BRE20FK
MEEERER  BENERERR  BEMM
BERE RMEZETRERENZER - KERM
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BRI FERE  EPEMIS L BRIVEAE
FREIMCEEINS  SETERBRA 8
B ZBREMMBREEED - HETRBFERR
HENBEEN HBEREEHES  BFRM
EMmmELE  BEREREL  BAGLAE5HE
HEMEE  WE BT BEEEZ - BN
MHERE  BARIAALRIF MK DT - RS
TR NI EE AP O - RFEE S AR
BREBRBRERRARTKRETS it BEH
EA [ KBREZEIEE - RMBEEIMEFK
RN EEN  FHERBRLRREBRETKENE
B SR AREEMEFILRE -

RABRREZQRAMBEARARR(KRE])
RAROHE  FAHBRHE2BE TAFANH
S - HAE CEEFENEEENARSE N
T E2016FARA GRS E KM - BIBE
BlEE AEE |

ANNUAL REPORT 2015 / CHINA GREENFRESH GROUP CO., LTD.

04



Management’s Discussion and Analysis
SRR e

BUSINESS OVERVIEW

The Group is a leading integrated supplier of edible fungi products in the
PRC. According to Euromonitor International Limited, the Group was the
largest supplier of king trumpet mushroom and the seventh largest producer
of button mushroom in the PRC in terms of production volume in 2013.
The Group’s edible fungi business operations are vertically integrated,
covering the cultivation and sales of fresh edible fungi products as well
as the manufacture and sales of various processed edible fungi products.
Such integrated business model distinguishes the Group from other fresh
and processed edible fungi suppliers in the PRC, most of which are mainly
engaged in part or parts of the value chain of cultivation, processing and
sales of edible fungi. The Group is also a manufacturer of processed food
products such as canned food and other processed food products in the
PRC. The Board is of the opinion that further expansion of its existing
network of distribution and sales is the most important factor which will
further increase its market share and coverage, and the expansion of
distribution and sales network can be realised through expanding and
deepening the distribution and sales network. The Group has established
a wholly-owned subsidiary in Nanchang, Jiangxi province in October
2015 namely, Greenfresh (Nanchang) Biological Technology Limited” %%
Z (&)L YWHR & AR 2 A (“Greenfresh Nanchang”) with an aim to
extend its coverage to the neighbouring provinces such as Anhui, Hunan
and Hubei, and to further expand the distribution and sales area of the
Group. In addition, the Group currently engaged in food trading business
in Hong Kong through its indirect wholly owned subsidiary incorporated in
Hong Kong, China Green Group Co., Limited, and the products are mainly
distributed to countries and regions in Southeast Asia, Europe, America and
Africa.

The Group’s products are primarily marketed under the core brands,
’ﬁ and “ZRJEE B and are mainly categorised into two series,
namely (i) fresh edible fungi products consisting of king trumpet mushroom,
button mushroom and straw mushroom; and (ii) processed food products
consisting of canned food such as canned edible fungi, canned vegetables
and canned fruit, and other processed food products such as brined
mushroom, preserved vegetables and dried mushroom. Canned food is
primarily original equipment manufactured (“OEM”) products. Goods for
trading mainly comprise food products, such as edible fungi, fresh food,
vegetables, canned food, frozen food and etc.

2015 3 / PG ESEBRA
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis
EEERwED T

AP

BUSINESS OVERVIEW (Continued)

King trumpet mushroom

The Group first launched the cultivation of king trumpet mushroom in 2009.
The Group’s king trumpet mushroom has been its most successful product
since 2009, sales of which constituted the largest component of its revenue
and accounted for 38.95% of its revenue during the Year.

Button mushroom and straw mushroom

The Group first launched the cultivation of button mushroom and straw
mushroom in 2009 and 2012, respectively. Sales of button mushroom and
straw mushroom accounted for 31.91% of its revenue during the Year.

Processed food products

Canned food

The Group first launched the production of canned food in 1995. The Group
produces canned food according to the specifications and design provided
by trading companies. A majority of the Group’s canned food are produced
under OEM arrangements and labeled with brands and logos of overseas
distributors or retailers while the remaining is produced and marketed under
its own brand. Sales of the Group’s canned food accounted for 13.07% of
its revenue during the Year. The Group offers three major types of canned
food, namely canned edible fungi, canned vegetables and canned fruit.

Other processed food products

Apart from the canned food, the Group also manufactures and sells a
wide range of other processed food products, including brined mushroom,
preserved vegetables, snacks and dried mushroom. The Group sells other
processed food products under its own brand. The Group’s sales of other
processed food products accounted for 5.98% of its revenue during the
Year.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis
SRR e

BUSINESS OVERVIEW (Continued)

Trading of Food

Trading of food business is mainly the trading business of a wholly-owned
Hong Kong subsidiary established by the Group. It is mainly engaged in
the purchase of export goods through entering into sales agreement with
foreign trading companies and entering into purchase agreement with
domestic trading companies with required qualification. Besides, Greenfresh
Nanchang has commenced edible fungi trading business in October 2015,
which is mainly engaged in the purchase of agricultural products through
entering into sales agreement with domestic distributors and entering into
purchase agreement with domestic agricultural products suppliers. For the
year ended 31 December 2015, the sales of the trading of food business
accounted for RMB76,890,000 or 10.09% of the Group’s revenue.

PROSPECTS

The PRC edible fungi market demonstrates high growth potential in
edible fungi consumption per capita. As consumers become more health
conscious with more nutrition intake, edible fungi consumption is expected
to grow in the future. Industrial production, which involves high degree
of mechanisation, full automation and digital management, will be more
widely used in the edible fungi cultivation. In the future, major mushroom-
producing regions are expected to further commit themselves in building
modern warehousing and logistics facilities, cold chains, agro-commodities
wholesale markets and distribution centres. In addition, large scale edible
fungi companies will attempt to expand to both upstream and downstream
industries such as mushroom processing, food service and agricultural by-
product to make full use of the resources of mushroom growing, to raise
their profitability and to expand their distribution networks.

The Group strives to become the leading integrated supplier of edible fungi
products and seeks to maintain significant growth in its financial results. To
achieve stable profitability, in addition to the existing production capacity
of the Group’s edible fungi products, the Group intends to carrying out
investments such as self-built facilities, and mergers and acquisitions.
Furthermore, the Group strives to maintain growth through introducing
other species of fungi, providing one-stop services regarding production
technology, enhancing administration and distribution channels to small and
medium enterprises engaged in edible fungi industry.

2015 3 / PG ESEBRA
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis
SEEAEREC R
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PROSPECTS (Continued)

With the rapid development of PRC’s economy, the food consumption
habits of urban and rural residents have shifted towards placing greater
emphasis on health and pleasures from “having enough to eat and eat
well” to “eat safe, eat healthily”. Food safety and nutritional health have
become the important factor for the citizens’ well-being and longevity. As
consumers become more health conscious, the health supplement product
market is booming with great potential. In order to expand into the big health
products market, the Group has established Singapore Cambo Biological
Technology Pte Ltd (¥7 0 # & & 4% % A 7]) (“Cambo Biological’) in
Singapore in December 2015. The Group has set up Healthy Product R&D
Center of China Greenfresh Group (7 Bl 4% & & B & F & & i % D)
under Cambo Biological, which has currently researched and developed
edible fungi health care products for protecting liver and stomach and
improving human immunity. In addition, the Group has established 77''J —
eV A Z—# 3 £ 4t (Japan Lvhui Company Limited*) (“Japan Lvhui”)
in Japan in January 2016. Japan Lvhui is primarily engaged in product
development in the Japanese market including the import and export and
the sales of healthy food as well as health care food. Meanwhile, Japan
Lvhui has been working in collaboration with Japanese staghorn lingzhi
mushrooms planting specialist and Japanese medical research organization,
and plans to introduce staghorn lingzhi mushroom tea into the market as a
functional health care product. The Directors believe that the construction
and development of health products channel will become a new driver in the
Group’s business growth.

The Group plans to look for appropriate cultivation facilities of edible fungi
for mergers and acquisitions to develop its cultivation business. The Group
will select suitable cultivation facilities of edible fungi based on factors such
as local market demand, development potential and complementary effects
with its existing products and prices. The Directors believe that appropriate
acquisition opportunities on cultivation facilities of edible fungi will further
expand its cultivation capacity, widen the coverage of its distribution and
raise its profitability. The Directors believe that due to their rich experience in
managing various cultivation facilities in different regions in China, the Group
can continue to develop its business through acquisition.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis
SRR e

PROSPECTS (Continued)

The successful branding strategy of the Group has become a crucial factor
in its business development. The Group won the first place of “2016 The
Most Valuable Edible Fungi Enterprise for Investment TOP 10” (20165 &
BREEBERARENMTE TOP10) held by www.emushroom.net (5% 48) in
March 2016. Moving forward, the Group plans to continuously enhance its
brand value and brand image through marketing and promotional activities.

Use of proceeds

The Shares were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (“the
Listing”) on 18 June 2015 (“Listing Date”). The net proceeds of the
global offering were approximately RMB444,990,000 (net of underwriting
commission and relevant expenses). For the Year, given the ongoing
preparation for strategic merger and acquisition projects and self-built
production facilities, the Group did not make any utilise of proceeds raised
from the Listing until now.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue and gross profit

The Group recorded revenue of approximately RMB762,120,000 during the
Year (2014: RMB545,670,000), representing an increase of approximately
39.67%, in which sales of (1) king trumpet mushroom; (2) button mushroom
and straw mushroom; (3) canned food; (4) other processed food; and (5)
trading of food were approximately RMB296,873,000, RMB243,200,000,
RMB99,617,000, RMB45,538,000 and RMB76,891,000 respectively (2014:
RMB199,270,000, RMB175,860,000, RMB124,690,000, RMB45,840,000
and RMB Nil), representing approximately 38.95%, 31.91%, 13.07%, 5.98%
and 10.09% of the revenue of the Group respectively (2014: 36.52%,
32.23%, 22.85%, 8.40% and Nil). The increase in revenue during the Year
was mainly due to (i) the addition of king trumpet mushroom cultivation
facilities in Fujian province, namely the No. 4 factory in Shiliu and the factory
in Hengshan by the Group in 2015, which in turn increased the sales in
king trumpet mushroom; (i) the increase in cultivation area used in planting
straw mushroom from 317,000 sg.m. in 2014 to 1,608,000 sg.m. in 2015,
which increased the yield and sales volume of straw mushroom; and (iii)
the additional trading business introduced by the subsidiary of the Group in
Hong Kong in 2015, which increased the sales of the Group.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis
SEEAEREC R
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)
Revenue and gross profit (Continued)
The following table sets forth the Group’s gross profit (before deduction

of business tax and auxiliary charges) and gross profit margin by product
category before and after fair value adjustment of biological assets:

B EIRE (4F)
WAREFI(E)
TRV AEERERDBEDENEERIAE

ERBEATRENEE DA BEFER 2 EF (KN
B A 2 8 T ) R 2K

For the year ended For the year ended
31 December 2015 31 December 2014
HE2015F12831 HILEE HE2014F12831HILFE
After fair value Before fair value After fair value Before fair value
adjustment adjustment adjustment adjustment
DABERER NABERRZA DABERER NAEERRZE
Gross Profit Gross Profit Gross Profit Gross Profit
Product category ERER profit margin profit margin profit margin profit margin
e E kS e ik e Eilk e il
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFL ARETT ARETFT ARETT
King trumpet mushroom P of 125,832 42.39% 120,683 40.65% 84,003 42.15% 79,784 40.04%
Button mushroom and
straw mushroom ERRER 104905  43.14% 125409  5157% 95,642 54.39% 91,346 51.94%
Canned food BERM 20,764 20.84% 20,764 20.84% 22,222 17.82% 22,202 17.82%
Other processed food products ~ Ef TR R 5,291 11.62% 5,291 11.62% 4,527 9.88% 4,527 9.88%
Trading of food RmE%5 4,320 5.62% 4,320 5.62% - - - -
Total At 261,112 34.26% 276,467 36.28% 206,394 37.82% 197,879 36.26%

The following table sets forth the sales and the average selling price by
product categories:

TRIPRERENE D ZHEBRFHEE

For the year ended For the year ended
31 December 2015 31 December 2014
BZE2015F12831H B £2014%F12A31H
ILEE LtEE
Average Average
Sales selling Price Sales selling Price
fHE FHEE 2 FHEE
(kilogram) (RMB) (kilogram) (RMB)
(2F) (AER®) (AfT) (AR®)
Fresh edible fungi FEHSAREM
King trumpet mushroom oy b 39,833,043 7.45 26,627,647 7.48
Button mushroom and straw ik R Bk
mushroom 30,625,221 7.94 22,545,685 7.80
Processed food MIRM
Canned food HEER M 14,147,307 7.04 16,406,498 7.60
Other processed food products EMINTE & 4,765,448 9.56 4,094,680 11.20
Trading of food EmES 5,890,786 13.05 - -
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis
SRR e

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Analysis of the changes in revenue

The revenue of the Group increased by approximately RMB216,450,000
or 39.67% from approximately RMB545,670,000 for the year ended 31
December 2014 to approximately RMB762,120,000 for the Year, primarily
due to: (i) an increase of approximately RMB97,601,000 or 48.98% in
the sales of king trumpet mushroom; (i) an increase of approximately
RMB67,340,000 or 38.29% in the sales of button mushroom and straw
mushroom; and (iii) an increase of approximately RMB76,891,000 in the
sales from trading of food.

The sales volume of king trumpet mushroom for the Year increased by
approximately 13,205 tonnes primarily due to the addition of two cultivation
facilities in Fujian province, namely the No. 4 factory in Shiliu and the factory
in Hengshan, and a new trading company in Nanchang, Jiangxi province
during the Year. The average selling price per kilogram decreased by
RMBO0.03 which was primarily due to the decrease in the unit price of the
king trumpet mushroom in the market. As a result of the increase in sales
volume and the slight decrease in selling price per kilogram, the sales of king
trumpet mushroom in 2015 increased by approximately RMB97,601,000 as
compared to that of 2014.

The sales volume of button mushroom and straw mushroom for the Year
increased by approximately 8,080 tonnes, primarily due to the increase in
the cultivation area of straw mushroom in Fujian province, from 223,000
sg.m. in 2014 to 1,608,000 sg.m. in 2015. The average selling price
per kilogram for the Year increased by RMBO0.14, mainly because of the
demand surpassing supply for straw mushroom during the Year, resulting
in the significant increase in segment average price per kilogram of straw
mushroom as compared to that of 2014, which boosted the overall selling
price of the button mushroom and straw mushroom. Due to the increase
in price per kilogram and sales volume, the sales of button mushroom and
straw mushroom in 2015 increased by RMB67,340,000 as compared to that
of 2014.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Analysis of the changes in revenue (Continued)

The sales volume of canned food for the Year decreased by approximately
2,259 tonnes, mainly attributable to the influence of the international market,
such as the decline in demand for canned food in Russia. The average
selling price per kilogram for the Year decreased by RMB0.56 as compared
to that of 2014, mainly because of the vigorous competition in the export
industry of canned food products. The selling price of the Group’s canned
food products was reduced to maintain price competitiveness since various
canned food competitors reduced its price accordingly in order to enhance
the export volume. Due to the decrease in sales volume and selling price,
the sales of canned food products in 2015 dropped by RMB25,073,000 as
compared to that of 2014.

The sales volume of other processed food products for the Year increased
by 671 tonnes as compared to that of 2014, primarily due to the increase
in the sales volume of brined mushroom and other products. The average
selling price per kilogram for the Year decreased by RMB1.64 as compared
to that of 2014. The decrease in selling price per unit partially offset by the
increase in sales volume led to a decrease of RMB305,000 in sales in 2015
as compared to that of 2014.

Trading of food business primarily includes the trading of edible fungi, fresh
food, vegetables, canned food and frozen food, the sales volume of which
was 5,891 tonnes for the Year, with a revenue of RMB76,890,000 for the
Year and its average selling price was RMB13.05 per kilogram.

Analysis of gross profit and gross profit margin

For the Year, the gross profit (before deduction of business tax and
auxiliary charge) of the Group was approximately RMB261,112,000
(2014: RMB206,390,000), and the gross profit margin was 34.26% (2014:
37.82%). In particular, the gross profit margin of (i) king trumpet mushroom;
(i) button mushroom and straw mushroom; (iii) canned food; (iv) other
processed food products; and (v) trading of food was approximately
42.39%, 43.14%, 20.84%, 11.62% and 5.62% respectively (2014: 42.15%,
54.39%, 17.82%, 9.88% and Nil).
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)
Analysis of gross profit and gross profit margin (Continued)

The sales volume of king trumpet mushroom for the Year increased by
approximately 13,205 tonnes as compared to that of 2014 and there was
a decrease in cost per kilogram by RMBO0.04 compared to that of 2014,
mainly due to the decrease in average fixed cost in cost of sales along with
the increase in production which offset the effect of the decrease in selling
price per kilogam, and causing the gross profit of king trumpet mushroom
increased by RMB41,829,000 for the Year as compared to that of 2014.

The sales volume of button mushroom and straw mushroom for the Year
increased by 8,080 tonnes as compared to that of 2014 and there was
an increase in cost per kilogram of approximately RMB0.96 in 2015 as
compared to that of 2014, mainly due to the increase in the market price
of raw material for planting button mushroom and straw mushroom, which
resulted in the increase in cost per kilogram of straw mushroom and
button mushroom. As a result of the rise in the selling price per kilogram
being offset by the rise in cost together with the increase in sales volume,
the gross profit of button mushroom and straw mushroom increased by
RMB9,263,000 for the Year as compared to that of 2014.

The sales volume of canned food for the Year decreased by 2,259 tonnes as
compared to that of 2014, while the cost per kilogram in the Year decreased
by RMBO0.68 in 2015 as compared to that of 2014, mainly because of the
decrease in costs of raw material. As a result of the decrease in selling
price per kilogram, the decrease in cost per kilogram together with the
decrease in sales volume, the gross profit of canned food decreased by
RMB1,458,000 during the Year as compared to that of 2014.

The sales volume of other processed food products for the Year increased
by 671 tonnes as compared to that of 2014. The cost per kilogram in the
Year decreased by RMB1.64 as compared to that of 2014 mainly because
during the Year, the cost of brined mushroom was lower and the proportion
of brined mushroom in other processed food products was higher, pulling
down the overall average cost per kilogram of other processed food
products, including brined mushroom, preserved vegetables, snacks and
dried mushroom. As a result of the decline in selling price per kilogram, the
decrease in cost per kilogram of other processed food products together
with the increase in sales volume, the gross profit of other processed food
products in 2015 increased by RMB764,000 as compared to that of 2014.

2015 3 / PG ESEBRA

13

B IS EIRE (42)
ERMRENMESHN(Z)
FABEHEEE 20145 L F#913,205M8 - M

IR AR2014F NREAT ARK0.047C - T2
R R ERA 2 FIEBEERA T HIANESE K

HEE LT EHHEEENTRE - BLKAT
BREE EANTE  BEFANHEHEER

BRo014F I INARKE41.8208 8T °

FANEE N E i E R 20145 18 HN8,080MF - i
2015F B RT BAMKAIR2014F EAHNARE
09670 TERARBEEFHNEFNTIERMN
BORENSERLEE LT SREHENER
MEMKRA EF - BRE AT IEEEN EF MK
AR EARBEE AR SEFRERL REL
SHE EFE2014F R ARKEI263HETT ©

FREERBEER2014F K 2,250 -
N AR2015F 82014 F 7> AR E0.687T
FTEHREMBEKAREER - AREATH
EETHREEMEABRRESRENTE B
FEANRERMBEE EFNR2014FRIARE
1.458B&TT °

FREMMIR B HEEE20145F EF671H
MERNERTKAE2014E T KR ARK.647T -
FERAFRNEKERASRE - AT HamT
REm(BEEEX KERGERLEZ)NERS
DNITFHERA - BRERTHEBRN TR - i
MIBRREATHRARENEE EF - 82015
FHAMAIN TR DA HEE EFER2014F B MARE
0.764HETT °

A



Management’s Discussion and Analysis
SEEAEREC R

AP

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)
Cost of sales

Cost of sales primarily consisted of cost of raw material, direct labour
and the indirect cost of manufacturing. Direct labour included the wages
paid to production workers and other compensations. The indirect cost
of manufacturing included depreciation, transportation cost, packaging
and water and electricity charges. The cost of raw material constituted the
largest part of the cost of sales and represented approximately 88.60% of
the cost of sales for the Year (2014: 80.5%).

Other income

Other income for the Year was approximately RMB24,390,000 (2014:
RMB9,950,000) which mainly included (i) interest income; (ii) government
subsidies and awards; (iii) other income and (iv) exchange gain.

The interest income for the Year increased by RMB5,440,000 as compared
to that of 2014, primarily due to the increase in term deposit. Besides,
government subsidies and awards increased by RMB860,000 as compared
to that of 2014, primarily due to the increase in the number of government
subsidies during the Year as compared to last year. The exchange gains,
net of the Group in 2015 was RMB11,351,000 (2014: Nil), which increased
by RMB11,351,000 as compared to last year, primarily due to the exchange
difference of the Group’s fund denominated in foreign currencies at the end
of the Year.

Finance costs

The Group’s financial costs represented the interest on bank borrowing
required to be repaid in full within a year. The Group’s financial costs
amounted to RMB615,000 in 2015 (2014: RMB1,194,000), which
decreased by RMB579,000 as compared to that of 2014, mainly due to
the decrease in short-term bank borrowing of the Group for the Year by
RMB8,000,000 as compared to 2014.

Income tax expense

The Group’s income tax expense increased by 20.12% from approximately
RMB2,250,000 in 2014 to RMB2,710,000 in 2015. The decrease in
effective tax rate was mainly due to the increase in proportion of revenue
contributed by the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC which enjoy preferential
tax treatment.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Selling expenses

Selling expenses for the Year mainly included (i) wages; (i) transportation
costs; and (iii) advertising and promotion expenses, which decreased
to approximately RMB3,870,000 for the Year from approximately
RMB6,080,000 for the year ended 31 December 2014, mainly attributable to
the reduction in the Group’s marketing expenses.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses for the Year were approximately RMB59,770,000
(2014: RMB30,800,000) which mainly included (i) wages; (i) equity-settled
share-based payments; (iii) professional fee; and (iv) depreciation.

The increase in administrative expenses for the Year, as compared to that
of 2014, was mainly due to the recognition of equity-settled share-based
payment of RMB31,800,000 for the Year, while no such expense incurred in
2014. Besides, the expenses incurred for the listing including professional
fee, roadshow expenses and the listing application fee decreased by
approximately RMB4,426,000 to RMB7,193,000 in total as compared to
that of 2014.

Profit before tax and profit attributable to owners of the Company

For the Year, the Group recorded profit before tax of approximately
RMB220,440,000 (2014: RMB177,340,000) which represented an increase
of approximately 24.30%. The Group’s profit attributable to owners of
the Company was approximately RMB217,730,000 for the Year (2014:
RMB175,090,000), representing an increase of approximately 24.36%.

The net profit margin for the Year was approximately 28.57% (2014: 32.09%),
representing a decrease of approximately 3.52%. It was primarily affected
by the equity-settled share-based payments of RMB31,800,000. If excluding
the above-mentioned expense and the expenses incurred for the Listing
of the Company, such as professional fee, roadshow expenses and listing
application fee, which totalled to RMB7,193,000 (2014: RMB11,619,000), the
net profit of the Group for the Year would be approximately RMB256,726,000,
representing an increase of approximately 37.50% as compared to that of
2014, and the net profit margin would be 33.69%.

2015 3 / PG ESEBRA

15

Br S EIRE (4F)
HEMX

REHERTTIEARENTE  (INEBRINES
TEE  HEZE2014F12A31AEEEHARYK
6.08EEBIT THREFAMARKEIGTEE L ' =
EERAEERLTISHEMS -

TR

KETHRASZHABARES77HEETT(20145F ¢
ARMB0.80BET)  FEANITE - (I)AED
EERODAEROMNT  (INBEEBARIVITE
;gf o

REMITHHASE2014FE 0 TEZRAAER
DESEEROAER I NHIARKEI1.808E
JC M2014FEWARBUHEBRES + RE LW
ERPNBEER  KEEA LTHRFEESE
A RAFAFARE7A93EHET  20144F
TEHRHAREEL426EETT -

BAIF B R A D BDER ARGEF

FRAREEHRAFBELNRARE22448 8
JL(20144F « ARW177.34BE L) © LY
24.30% ° ARFHEA ABIEREBAEFEHNA
ARME217. 73 A B L (20145F « ARMA175.095

ra—

B70) ' EiR#24.36% °

FERHF B RL A28.57% (20144 1 32.09% )
TFE#I3.52% + XERAANEZEERND AE
MeHRARKES1B0BET - HHIk Ll
RAARS EMABEENFENEEER KA
ER EMHEBESEITMHEBEERA(GTARE
7193A&EIL(2014F « ARKE11.619A8 L)) -
REBFANFHELNAARE256.726BETT * &
20144 E7R4937.50% » /FF B R 533.69% °

A



Management’s Discussion and Analysis
EEERwED T

AP

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Profit before tax and profit attributable to owners of the Company
(Continued)

For the Year, basic earnings per share attributable to owners of the
Company was approximately RMB49.2 cents (2014: RMB46.7 cents).

Trade receivables

As at 31 December 2015, trade receivables of the Group were
approximately RMB124,480,000 (2014: RMB58,850,000). The increase was
mainly because the sales in trading of food increased by RMB76,891,000 in
2015, which led to an increase of the balance of trade receivables.

Deposits, prepayments and other receivables

As at 31 December 2015, deposits, prepayments and other receivables of
the Group were approximately RMB112,820,000 (2014: RMB113,040,000),
which mainly included (i) earnest money paid for acquisition of land; and (ii)
other receivables. The overall decrease was attributable to the decrease in
guarantee deposit paid to the farmers of RMB11,500,000, the decrease in
prepayments of RMB3,586,000 which outweighed the payment of earnest
money for acquisition of land of RMB5,100,000, and the prepayment for
purchasing machinery and equipment of RMB9,900,000 during the Year.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2015, the issued share capital of the Company was
US$5,000,000, representing 500,000,000 shares of nominal value of
US$0.01 per share. Gearing ratio (calculated by dividing total borrowings by
total equity) was 0.69% as at 31 December 2015. Current ratio (calculated
by dividing current assets by current liabilities) was 19.0 as at 31 December
2015. The Group will continue to stringently monitor the policy of debt
recovery to minimise the risk of credit sale and ensure that the capital can be
recovered timely.
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CAPITAL STRUCTURE (Continued)

Current capital and financial resources

As at 31 December 2015, the total bank and cash balances of the Group
amounted to RMB1,014,350,000. The Shares were listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange on 18 June 2015 and the net proceeds raised (net of
underwriting commission and the relevant expenses incurred for the Listing)
was approximately RMB444,990,000. As at 31 December 2015, the Group
interest-bearing bank borrowings were approximately RMB10,000,000
and the original maturity date was 11 March 2016, the Group has already
renewed the bank loan with a term of one year, the renewed maturity date of
which is 14 March 2017.

Exposure to exchange rate risk and related hedge

The subsidiaries of the Group incorporated in the PRC are mainly engaged
in business using RMB as their denominating currency, while the Hong Kong
subsidiary of the Group is engaged in business denominated in USD. The
reporting currency of the Group is RMB. Most of the cash and bank deposits
of the Group are dominated in RMB. The interest-bearing bank loans of the
Group are in RMB. In terms of declaration of dividends, the Company will
distribute them in Hong Kong dollars. The Directors are of the opinion that
the exchange rates between RMB and other currencies are relatively stable
and the Group will closely monitor the exposure in changes in exchange
rates, and therefore, there is no need for carrying out hedging policy at
present.

Pledge on Group assets

As at 31 December 2015, machinery and facilities with a net value of
RMB2,730,000 had been pledged for securing bank loans.

Capital Commitments and operating leases commitment

As at 31 December 2015, capital commitments of the Group contracted but
not provided were approximately RMB76,247,000 (2014: RMB67,290,000).
As at 31 December 2015, operating leases commitment of the Group in
respect of land and buildings and other properties were approximately
RMB55,140,000 (2014: RMB55,840,000).
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CAPITAL STRUCTURE (Continued)

Employee benefits and remuneration policy

As at 31 December 2015, the Group hired 1,054 employees in total
(2014: 1,178). The wages of the employees of the Group were determined
according to their experience, the qualifications, operating results of the
Group and the market condition. During the Year, staff costs including
directors’ emoluments were approximately RMB73,090,000 (2014:
RMB41,082,000). During the Year, staff costs were accounted for
approximately 9.6% of the Group’s revenue (2014: 7.5%).

In addition, the Group adopted a Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme (the “Pre-
IPO Share Option Scheme”) and a Share Option Scheme on 27 May 2015
to reward the employees who had contributed to the Group’s success.
During the Year, a total of 25,000,000 share options granted to 3 executive
Directors and 27 employees of the Group under the pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme shall be exercisable. For the Year, equity-settled share-based
payment expenses amounted to RMB31,800,000. The Directors believe that
salary packages that the Group provided to the employees were competitive
as compared to the market standard and practice.

Pursuant to the PRC’s social security regulations, the Group participated
in the social security scheme operated by the related local government
department which oversees pensions, medical insurance, unemployment
insurance, work injury insurance and maternity insurance.

Directors’ rights to subscribe for shares or debentures

Apart from the share options granted to the Directors under the Pre-
IPO Share Option Scheme, during the Year, the Company or any of its
subsidiaries did not have any arrangements which enabled the Directors to
gain profit by purchasing the shares or debt securities including debentures
of the Company or of any other legal entities.

PRASZEHE (45
BERFRMEBEE

201512 A31H » REBHIEHF1,054%EE
(20144 :1,178%) - AEBEE B 2 HERIREL
B BN AEELEEERTSRAETE - &
FR - BIXNAN(REEZEME )N ABARET3.09
BEL(2014F « ARB41.082BE L) - KEF
AN BINAEREBERAL.6% (20144 :
7.5%) °

SN - REER2015F5 A27 ARMH—BEH XD
FE S ERET 2 ((BRAREEAERE
B ) MBS LR AEEZKINE
PEBMZET - FR  AEBESRRITES K27
FZREBBERAFAESABERETIRRA R
25,000,000/ 4 AITT{L AE AR 1 « REDAIRIEAEE
RO ABERZNRAZARKEII80BET EF
B1E - MR ERIES - AEBEME TRRH
BEBFHZ2EHWES -

RIBF B RER - NEE2ERMM T R
2@z tRitdl  BEBEZRR BBERR
RERRE - TBRBERESRR

ESRBRONES 2ER

BEBERAARENBRESERTER LR
RRAESN » ARER - AND A ol H AR TR A A3 A
AR BEEETEBARRAR LM
HipE NBER 2RO EBER(BEER)ME
Fl o

ANNUAL REPORT 2015 / CHINA GREENFRESH GROUP CO., LTD.

18



Management’s Discussion and Analysis
SRR e

CAPITAL STRUCTURE (Continued)

Significant investment held

As at 31 December 2015, the Company did not hold any significant
investment.

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 December 2015, the Group did not have any significant contingent
liabilities.

Dividends

At the annual general meeting to be held on 20 May 2016 (“Annual General
Meeting”), a final dividend for the Year of HK20.00 cents per Share
(approximately equivalent to RMB17.00 cents) will be proposed to the
Shareholders for consideration and approval. The final dividend is expected
to be paid on 17 June 2016 to the Shareholders whose names appear on
the register of members of the Company at the close of business on 31
May 2016 and any one Director is authorised to deal with matters related
to be abovementioned (subject to the shareholders’ approval in the Annual
General Meeting).

Purchase, Sale or redemption of the listing securities of the Company

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, disposed of
or redeemed any of the listed securities of the Company during the period
between the Listing Date and 31 December 2015.

Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuer

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) as the Company’s code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by the Directors of the Company. Having
made specific enquiry of all directors of the Company, all Directors have
confirmed that they complied with the required standards set out in the
Model Code during the period between the Listing Date and 31 December
2015.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis
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CAPITAL STRUCTURE (Continued)

Corporate Governance Practices

The Company had adopted the code provisions as set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (“Corporate Governance Code”) contained in Appendix
14 of the Listing Rules as its corporate governance code.

During the period between the Listing Date and 31 December 2015, the
Company had complied with the code provisions as set out in the Corporate
Governance Code except for the deviation from the code provision A.2.1
explained below.

The code provision A.2.1 of Corporate Governance Code provides that the
roles of chairman and chief executive officer should be separate and should
not be performed by the same individual. The chairman of the Company,
Mr. Zheng Songhui, was also acting as the chief executive officer of the
Company during the year. The Board believes that vesting the roles of both
chairman and chief executive officer in Mr. Zheng Songhui helps ensuring
consistent leadership within the Group and enables more effective and
efficient overall strategic planning for the Group. The Board believes that
the balance of power and authority will not be impaired by the present
arrangement and is adequately ensured by the current Board, which
comprises experienced and high calibre individuals, including sufficient
number of independent non-executive directors.

Closure of register of members

For the purpose to determine the entitlements of the Shareholders to attend
and vote at the Annual General Meeting, the register of members of the
Company will be closed from 10 May 2016 to 20 May 2016 (both days
inclusive). Shareholders whose names appear on the register of members
of the Company on 20 May 2016 will be entitled to attend and vote at the
Annual General Meeting. In order to qualify for attending and voting at the
Annual General Meeting, Shareholders should ensure that Share transfer
documents must be lodged with the Company’s Branch Share Registrar and
Transfer Office in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, Level 22,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong, for registration not
later than 4:30 p.m. on 9 May 2016.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis
SRR e

CAPITAL STRUCTURE (Continued)

Closure of register of members (Continued)

For the purpose to determine the entitlements of the Shareholders to the
final dividend, the register of members of the Company will be closed from
27 May 2016 to 31 May 2016 (both days inclusive). Shareholders whose
names appear on the register of members of the Company on 31 May 2016
will be entitled to the final dividend. In order to qualify for the final dividend,
Shareholders should ensure that Share transfer documents must be lodged
with the Company’s Branch Share Registrar and Transfer Office in Hong
Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong, for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on
26 May 2016.

Audit committee and the review of the audited consolidated financial
statements

The Audit Committee of the Company have reviewed the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company with the management
and RSM Hong Kong, the external auditors. The Audit Committee and the
external auditors have no dispute over the accounting method adopted by
the Company.

Update of the information of the Directors

Mr. Mak Hing Keung Thomas, an independent non-executive director of the
Company, ceased to be the independent non-executive director of Huge
China Holdings Limited (0428.HK) from 1 July 2015 and was re-designated
as a non-executive director. Mr. Mak Hing Keung Thomas took up the
position as executive director of Millennium Pacific Group Holdings Limited
(8147 .HK) with effect from 26 May 2015.

The Directors’ emoluments of Mr. Zheng Songhui and Ms. Zheng Ruyan
was adjusted to RMB50,000 per month and RMB36,500 per month,
respectively.

Save as mentioned above, since the publication of the prospectus of
the Company dated 8 June 2015 (the “Prospectus”), there had been no
changes in the information of each of the directors which are required to be
disclosed under Rule 13.51(2) and 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EEREREEREE QA NA?
DIRECTORS =
Executive Directors HITES

Mr. Zheng Songhui (#2#%), aged 53, is the founder of our Group. Mr.
Zheng is the chairman of our Board, the chief executive officer of our
Group and an executive Director. Mr. Zheng was appointed as a Director
on 28 March 2011. Mr. Zheng also currently holds directorship in each
of the subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Zheng is the chairman of the
nomination committee and a member of the remuneration committee of the
Company. Mr. Zheng is in charge of the overall operations and development
strategy and overseeing internal control of our Group. Mr. Zheng founded
our Group in November 1995 when he established our first operating
subsidiary, Fujian Greenfresh Foods. Mr. Zheng has around 20 years of
experience in fresh and processed food industry and was recognised as an
intermediate engineer of food processing by the Office of Human Resources
Development of Fujian Province (18 & A W& RF A E) and the Public
Servant Bureau of Fujian Province (f8#£& 2% 8 B) in July 2011. Mr. Zheng
graduated with a bachelor degree in earth study from Fujian Agriculture and
Forestry University (f& 2 2ZMAZ) (formerly known as Fujian Agriculture
Institute (1722 2F5)) in July 1984. Mr. Zheng was admitted to a program
of executive master of business administration at Xiamen University in
July 2007. Mr. Zheng Songhui was elected as the vice chairperson of
Industrial Sub-committee of China Edible Fungi Association (FF & A& 7
EIMEEEZESE) in 2013. Moreover, Mr. Zheng Songhui was awarded
Outstand Talent (255 A7) by the government of Zhangzhou (ZM AR
) in 2012, Outstanding Entrepreneur in the PRC (R BI£E %) by
China Economy And Trade Promotion Association (FF B4 E S{2HEE) in
January 2011, China Outstanding Innovation Entrepreneur (#° B2 75 &ll 37 (>
#73%) jointly by China Private Entrepreneur Association (FEIRZ %R 1%
@) and China Academy of Science Information Consulting Center (7 B %} £
P f= B &R L) in August 2010 and Asia Top 10 Innovation Personality (23
M R+ K BI#T A 9) by Asia Brand Ceremony (35 & i# 2% #1) in September
2009. In October 2014, Mr. Zheng Songhui was appointed as the leading
talent of technology entrepreneurship of Fujian province (&4 BHYAI%4E
& AA) by the talent working committee of Fujian Provincial Committee of

Communist Party of the PRC (FF 1@ 4 & A4 T4HEE /).
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
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Mr. Zheng Tianming (¥JXA8), aged 47, is an executive Director of the
Company. Mr. Zheng was appointed as a Director on 4 February 2013. Mr.
Zheng has joined our Group since our inception in November 1995 and has
since then been assisting Mr. Zheng Songhui in the development of our
Group by taking an active part in the production and operation of our Group.
Mr. Zheng graduated from the Open University of China (7 & EHEE R A L)
in July 2013 with a certificate in Business Administration (majoring in sales
and marketing).

Ms. Zheng Ruyan (£5203%), aged 41, is an executive Director of our Group.
Ms. Zheng is also the chief financial officer, joint company secretary and
vice president of the Company. Ms. Zheng was appointed as a Director on
4 February 2013. Ms. Zheng is responsible for our Group’s management
of finance and legal affairs and investors’ relation. Ms. Zheng obtained a
master degree in accounting from Xiamen University (BF9A22) in December
2011. She obtained the certificate of Certified Internal Auditor issued by
China Institute of Internal Auditors (FBRZE5 A% 2) in November
2004. Ms. Zheng has over 19 years of experience in auditing, accounting
consultancy and financial management. From December 1995 to November
2006, she was responsible for the internal auditing management of the
internal units of Huadian Fujian Power Generation Company Limited (now
known as Huadian Fuxin Energy Corporation Limited (a company listed on
the Stock Exchange: stock code 816)). From December 2006 to December
2011, Ms. Zheng had been the vice president of Changfeng Axle (China)
Company Limited (a company listed on the Stock Exchange: stock code
10839) responsible for financial management, corporate management,
human resources administration and management.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
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Non-executive Director

Ms. Zhang Lin (5&3f), aged 46, is a non-executive Director. Ms. Zhang
was appointed as a Director on 4 February 2013. Ms. Zhang is currently
the assistant of general manager of financial business department general
management department of China National Cereals, Oils and Foodstuffs
Corporation (“COFCO”) and the secretary of the board and the general legal
counsel of COFCO Agricultural Industrial Investment Fund Management
Co., Ltd.. She has been working in COFCO and its affiliated companies for
more than 20 years since April 1994. Ms. Zhang graduated from Shanghai
Maritime University (_t/&/8% X&) with a bachelor degree and a master
degree, both of international economics law, in July 1991 and April 1994
respectively.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Mak Hing Keung, Thomas (£ #i58), aged 53, is an independent non-
executive Director appointed on 27 May 2015. Mr. Mak obtained a bachelor
degree of commerce from Queen’s University, Canada in May 1989. Mr.
Mak is a member of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants and a
fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
Mr. Mak is currently the chief operations officer of HF Financial Group
Limited and an executive director of Millennium Pacific Group Holdings
Limited (8147.HK). Mr. Mak ceased to be the independent non-executive
director of Huge China Holdings Limited (0428.HK) from 1 July 2015 and
was re-designated as non-executive director. Mr. Mak took up the position
as executive director of Millennium Pacific Group Holdings Limited (8147.
HK) with effect from 26 May 2015. Mr. Mak was the chief financial officer
and the company secretary of Heritage International Holdings Limited
(stock code: 412) from October 2014 to May 2015. Mr. Mak has been
an independent non-executive director of Tao Heung Holdings Limited
(stock code: 573) since June 2007. Mr. Mak has extensive experience and
expertise in accounting and financial management. From May 2010 to April
2014, Mr. Mak worked as the chief financial officer of South China Media
Group. From October 2007 to April 2010, Mr. Mak worked as the chief
financial officer of Redgate Media (Hong Kong) Limited, a wholly owned
subsidiary of Redgate Media Group. From February 2006 to October 2007,
Mr. Mak worked as the chief financial officer of MMG Limited (stock code:
1208). From June 2001 to January 2006, Mr. Mak worked as the chief
financial officer of RoadShow Holdings Limited (stock code: 0888). From
June 2000 to June 2001, Mr. Mak worked as senior manager in corporate
finance department in Vickers Ballas. From October 1997 to May 2000, Mr.
Mak worked as a manager in the listing division of Stock Exchange. Mr. Mak
had also worked in Ernst & Young for about 7 years.

Mr. Lou Robert Hsiu-sung (1£55), aged 42, is an independent non-
executive Director appointed by our Company on 27 May 2015. Mr. Lou
is qualified as a solicitor in Hong Kong in December 2002 and has over
12 years of experience in legal field. Mr. Lou is the chief legal officer
of TransAsia Airways Corporation (18 E i E & M {5 AR A 7)) since
December 2013. From August 2012 to November 2013, Mr. Lou was the
legal manager of Acer Incorporated (Z2& &5 EBR 72 7). Mr. Lou obtained
a bachelor degree in foreign languages and literature in National Taiwan
University (AKX 2) in June 1995 and a bachelor of arts in jun’s prudence
in Oxford University in August 2000. Mr. Lou obtained a Postgraduate
Certificate in Laws in the City University of Hong Kong in July 2000 and a
master of laws (LLM) with the Northwest University (FAdt X&) in June 2004.
Mr. Lou is a member of the audit committee and nomination committee of
our Company.
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Mr. Cheng Hiu Yung (8882 5), aged 39, is an independent non-executive
Director appointed by our Company on 27 May 2015. Mr. Cheng is currently
a production manager of Hong Kong Rainigrace Agricultural Science
Group Holding Company Limited (B2 AR SEER AR F]) which
he has joined since November 2014. He worked as production manager in
Epicurean and Company (Hong Kong) Limited from April 2013 to October
2014, production manager of City Super Limited from September 2009 to
March 2013, assistant production manager in Original Taste Workshop Ltd
(RERKRIEAR AT from February 2007 to June 2009. From April 2004
to November 2006, Mr. Cheng worked in the Hung Fook Tong (China)
Development Limited, which was a subsidiary company of Hung Fook Tong
Holdings Ltd (848 ¥ % &). Mr. Cheng has over 10 years of experience in
food testing and quality control industry. Mr. Cheng obtained a bachelor
degree of science majoring in applied chemistry from Hong Kong Baptist
University in December 2000. Mr. Cheng obtained basic food hygiene
certificate for hygiene managers by School of Continuing and Professional
Education, City University of Hong Kong in October 2008, and was
awarded “level 2 award in food safety in catering” by Chartered Institute of
Environmental Health in September 2008. Mr. Cheng completed food safety
management systems auditor — lead auditor training course in April 2008.
Mr. Cheng is the chairman of the remuneration committee and a member of
the audit committee and nomination committee of our Company.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Chen Wei (F#{), aged 50, is the vice president of our Company. Mr.
Chen joined our Group in January 2006 and is responsible for our Group’s
research and development, production and operations. Mr. Chen has
around 19 years of experience in food processing industry. Before joining
our Group, Mr. Chen was the deputy general manager of Fujian Zhangzhou
Gangchang Canned Foods Co., Ltd. (@& ZIINTEE®EERMARAA)
responsible for the management of operation, production and technology
from January 1995 to December 2005. Mr. Chen obtained diploma (%}) in
quality management from the Fujian Economic Management College (f&i24%
B TR ERT) in July 1990 and graduated with a bachelor degree of economic
management from the Open College of the Central Communist Party School
(Fp Hrp R B (KR EB7) in December 1996.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Ms. Ng Wing Shan (:=#H), aged 39, was appointed as the joint company
secretary of our Company on 28 November 2014. Ms. Ng is an assistant
vice president of SW Corporate Services Group Limited and is responsible
for assisting listed companies in professional company secretarial work.
She has over 10 years of professional experience in the company secretarial
field. Ms. Ng is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators in
the United Kingdom.
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Corporate Governance Report
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The board of directors (the “Board”) of the Company has adopted a Code
of Corporate Governance Practices (the “CG Code”), which is based on the
principles set out in Appendix 14 (the “HKEx Code”) to the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The Board will review the
CG Code from time to time and update as appropriate to align with the
provisions of the HKEx Code. Continuous efforts are made to review and
enhance the Group’s internal controls and procedures in light of changes in
regulations and developments in best practices.

The Board is pleased to report that the Company had complied with the
HKEx Code since the Listing on the Stock Exchange on 18 June 2015 (the
“Listing Date”) and up to the period ended 31 December 2015, except
where otherwise stated in the Corporate Governance Practices in the
Management Discussion and Analysis of this annual report.

At each annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time
being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three (3), the number nearest
to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided
that every Director shall be subject to retirement at least once every three
years in accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association and the CG
Code. Every director, including those appointed for a specific term, should
be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years, as
stipulated by the HKEx Code. As such, the Company considers that such
provisions are sufficient to meet the intent of the relevant provisions of the
HKEx Code.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company had adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules
(the “Model Code”) as the code of conduct governing directors’ securities
transactions. All directors of the Company during the year, following specific
enquiry by the Company, have confirmed that they have complied with the
required standard set out in the Model Code since the Listing date and up to
the period ended 31 December 2015.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition of the Board

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this

report are set out in the Directors’ Report on page 45.

Board Meetings and Attendance

During the year, two board meetings were held by the Company. Details of
attendance of directors at the board meetings during the year are set out in

the table below:

=g
BEEEEM

RAFEARBIAREEY  ARA2EZSE
REEHNFEISAEFTERENR -

EZggRdER
RAFERN  ARBHABITRMRAEFTEEH - 3

ERAFEANNEEFEERIFBERTR

Attendance at the board
meetings/Number of
meetings held

EEEER
RS
Name of Director BEEHNA BITEBARE
Executive Directors: HITES
Mr. Zheng Songhui (Chairman) ERFAR S (F /) 2/2
Mr. Zheng Tianming EPRERE & 2/2
Ms. Zheng Ruyan Eipnk -+ 2/2
Non-executive Director: FEHITES
Ms. Zhang Lin SR+ 2/2
Independent Non-executive Directors: BIFHITES
Mr. Mak Hing Keung Thomas o A 2/2
Mr. Lou Robert Hsiu-sung BESTE 2/2
Mr. Cheng Hiu Yung ERREE LA 2/2
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SEPARATE ROLE OF CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code requires that the roles of chairman
and chief executive officer should be separate and should not be performed
by the same individual. Mr. Zheng Songhui, the Chairman of the Company,
was also acting as the chief executive officer of the Company. The Board
believes that vesting Mr. Zheng Songhui's roles of both chairman and chief
executive officer has the benefit of ensuring consistent leadership within the
Group and enables more effective and efficient overall strategic planning for
the Group. The Board believes that the balance of power and authority for
the present arrangement will not be impaired and is adequately ensured by
current Board which comprises experienced and high calibre individuals with
sufficient number thereof being independent non-executive Directors.

OPERATIONS OF THE BOARD

The Board determines the corporate mission and broad strategies, monitors
and controls operating and financial performance and sets appropriate
policies to manage risks in pursuit of the Group’s strategic objectives.
Decisions involving financial statements, dividend policy, material contracts
and major investments and divestments are reviewed and subject to
approval by the Board. Other main roles of the Board are to review the
Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance and to ensure
that adequate internal control systems and management information
systems are in place, including being in compliance with every aspect of the
provisions of applicable laws, regulations, rules, directives and guidelines
to create value for its shareholders and to ensure that the Company has
adequate management to achieve the Company’s strategic objectives.

The Board has delegated the day-to-day management and operation of the
Group’s businesses to management of the Company and its subsidiaries.

Where appropriate, decisions are also taken by way of circulated
resolutions. Regular meetings of the Board shall be held at least four
times per year. Notice of at least 14 days should be given of a regular
board meeting to all directors. For all other board meetings, reasonable
notice should be given. Agenda and all appropriate, complete and reliable
information are sent to all directors at least 3 days before each board
meeting to keep the directors apprised of the latest developments and
financial position of the Company and to enable them to make informed
decisions.

All directors have access to the advice and services of the company
secretary and internal auditors, and upon reasonable request, independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances at the Company’s
expense, if any.
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Independence of the Independent Non-Executive Directors

From the Listing Date and up to the period ended 31 December 2015,
the Board at all times met the requirements of Rule 3.10 of the Listing
Rules relating to the appointment of at least three independent non-
executive directors with at least one independent non-executive director
possessing appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or related
financial management expertise. The Company received confirmation of
independence from each of the independent non-executive directors (the
“INEDs”) pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Up to and as at the
date of this report, the Company considers that the INEDs continue to be
independent.

RELATIONSHIP AMONG MEMBERS OF THE BOARD

There is no relationship among members of the Board in respect of financial,
business, family or other material relationship.

Directors’ Continuous Training and Development Programme

All of the directors have been informed of the requirement under code
provision A.6.5 of the Corporate Governance Code regarding continuous
professional development. All directors should participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
This is to ensure that their contribution to the board remains informed and
relevant.

The Company has put in place training and development programmes
for directors which include (i) training programmes for newly appointed
directors; and relevant training programmes on the Listing Rules.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, all directors of the Company
namely, Mr. Zheng Songhui, Mr. Zheng Tianming, Ms. Zheng Ruyan, Ms.
Zhang Lin, Mr. Mak Hing Keung Thomas, Mr. Lou Robert Hsiu-sung and
Mr. Cheng Hiu Yung received regular briefings and updates on the Group’s
business, operations, risk management and corporate governance matters.
Materials on new or changes to salient laws and regulations applicable to
the Group were provided to the directors. They also attended regulatory
update sessions and seminars on relevant topics. All directors are requested
to provide the Company with their respective training record pursuant to the
CG Code.
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The training received by each of the directors during the year is as follows:

BEFENAFEZZIA N

Attending briefing,
seminars, conference
and/or reading materials
relevant to the director’s
duties and responsibilities
SMERE - IS
ABEER RHERES

Name of Director EEnA BERBBEEANER
Executive Directors: HTES:

Mr. Zheng Songhui (Chairman) BB E(FE) v
Mr. Zheng Tianming EBRAEE 4
Ms. Zheng Ruyan BmFit 4
Non-executive Director: FHTES:

Ms. Zhang Lin Rt 4
Independent Non- executive Directors: BAFHTES:

Mr. Mak Hing Keung Thomas EEREE 4
Mr. Lou Robert Hsiu-sung BEBEE v
Mr. Cheng Hiu Yung BB EAE 4

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Each of the non-executive Directors has entered into a letter of appointment
with the Company for a term of three years commencing from the Listing
Date, which may be terminated by not less than three months’ notice in
writing served by either party on the other. They are subject to retirement by
rotation at the annual general meeting pursuant to the articles of association
of the Company and the CG Code.

BOARD COMMITTEES

During the year, three board committees, namely, the Remuneration
Committee, the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee were in
place for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affairs pursuant to
the Listing Rules and the CG Code.

The three committees are established by the Company with defined written
terms of reference, approved by the Board, which set out the Committees’
major duties. The terms of reference now being posted on the websites of
the Stock Exchange and the Company, are available to shareholders.
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The majority of the members of each Board committee are INEDs. The list
of the chairman and members of each Board committee is set out in the
following Board committee section.

The Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge
their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s
expense.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company recognizes and embraces the benefits of Board member
diversification to enhance the quality of its performance. With a view to
achieving a sustainable and balanced development, the Company is of
the view that increasing diversity at the Board level as one of the essential
elements in supporting the attainment of its strategic objectives and its
sustainable development. In designing the Board’s composition, Board
diversity has been considered from a number of aspects, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. All Board appointments
will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against
objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the
Board. The Nomination Committee is delegated by the Board to review inter
alia the structure, size and composition of the Board at least annually, and
make recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to ensure
its effectiveness.

Remuneration Committee (the “Remuneration Committee”)

A remuneration committee was established by our Company pursuant to
a resolution of the Board on 27 May 2015 with specific written terms of
reference in accordance with the requirements of the Stock Exchange which
deal clearly with its authority and duties.

The principal role and functions of the Remuneration Committee are to
make recommendations to the Board on its policy and structure for the
remuneration of directors and senior management, as well as to determine
the specific remuneration packages of all executive directors and senior
management, including benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation
payments, including any compensation payable for loss or termination of
their office or appointment. During the year, the Remuneration Committee
comprises Mr. Cheng Hiu Yung, an INED, Mr. Mak Hing Keung Thomas, an
INED and Mr. Zheng Songhui, an executive director. Mr. Cheng Hiu Yung, an
INED, is the chairman of the remuneration committee.
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The Remuneration Committee has adopted the approach under code
provision B.1.2(c)(ii) of the HKEx Code to propose to the Board, with
delegated responsibility and authorisation by the Board, the remuneration
packages of individual executive directors and senior management.

During the year, two Remuneration Committee meetings were held by the
Company. The individual attendance of each member was as follows:

SNEERCRESSR TRAERESN - WAk
RATSFRIEB.A.2(c) (i ESFBIESCRT B 2 554 A
FEESERMENRTEELRREBEAB ZHH
i o

REFER  ARABAHBOIRMAFHNEZEES
# o [ERIK B HE 2 BERETIT

Number of meetings
held/Number of

attendance

BITEERRES

Name of Director EEHA R
Mr. Cheng Hiu Yung (Chairman) BB L E(F/EFE) 2/2
Mr. Mak Hing Keung Thomas BER L 2/2
Mr. Zheng Songhui LI/ 2/2

Work done during the year include:

e recommended to the Board the directors’ fees for the year ended 31
December 2015 for proposing to shareholders for approval;

e adjusted the remuneration packages of certain directors of the
Company for the year 2015;

e reviewed the employee’s Share Option Scheme; and the employee’s
remuneration policy.

Level and Make-up of Remuneration

The Group’s remuneration scheme for executive directors and senior
management is linked to performance, service seniority, experience and
scope of responsibility, which are reviewed from time to time to align with
market/industry practices.

The level of remuneration of non-executive directors reflects the level of
responsibilities undertaken by them.

The fees of directors, including non-executive directors, are recommended
and endorsed by the Board for shareholders’ approval at the Company’s
annual general meeting.
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COMPENSATION OF THE DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The Directors and senior management of the Company receive
compensation in the form of salaries, benefits in kind and discretionary
bonuses related to the performance of the Company. The Company also
reimburse them for expenses which are necessarily and reasonably incurred
for providing services to the Company or executing their functions in relation
to the operations of the Company.

The Company has altogether five highest paid individuals, including three
Directors, during the year ended 31 December 2015, and the details of
the analysis of the remuneration of the directors and senior management
are set out in the analysis of the Directors’ emoluments in note 13 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE (THE “NOMINATION COMMITTEE”)

A nomination committee was established by our Company pursuant to
a resolution of the Board on 27 May 2015 with specific written terms of
reference in accordance with the requirement of the Stock Exchange which
deal clearly with its authority and duties.

The principal role and functions of the Nomination Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on the structure, size and composition
of the Board, and to review the independence of independent non-
executive directors, the suitability of directors who will stand for re-election
and directors’ continuous training and development programme. During
the year, the Nomination Committee comprises Mr. Zheng Songhui, an
executive director, Mr. Cheng Hiu Yung, an INED and Mr. Lou Robert Hsiu-
sung, an INED. Mr. Zheng Songhui, an executive director, is the chairman of
the Nomination Committee.
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During the year, one Nomination Committee meeting was held by the
Company, the Nomination Committee had also met after the financial
year end to discuss/review the Company’s matters for the year ended 31
December 2015. The individual attendance of each member is as follows:

RAFER  KARERIT-—KIEZEESE
7 RREES YRR BT ERERRITES
Watim, BEANRREE2015F12A31BLEFE
ZEE - HERIKEEFE 2 EREINT

Number of meetings
held/Number of

attendance

BITEERE

Name of Director EEHNE HERE
Mr. Zheng Songhui (Chairman) ERINE S A () 11
Mr. Cheng Hiu Yung BRRE B S A 1/1
Mr. Lou Robert Hsiu-sung EESEE 1/

Work done during the year

e  reviewed the structure, size and diversity of the Board (including without
limitation, gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
skills, knowledge, professional experience, competences, length
of service, and the balance between executive, non-executive and
independent non-executive directors) and is of the view that there is an
appropriate and diverse mix of skills and experience;

e reviewed the independence of independent non-executive directors of
the Company;

e confirmed that all independent non-executive directors are considered
independent;

e reviewed the continuous training and development programs
undertaken by directors and confirmed that an appropriate program is
in place; and

e reviewed its terms of reference and the board diversity policy of the
Company.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (THE “AUDIT COMMITTEE”)

An audit committee was established by our Company pursuant to a
resolution of the Board on 27 May 2015 with specific written terms of
reference in accordance with the requirement of the Stock Exchange which
deal clearly with its authority and duties.

The Audit Comittee oversees the financial reporting process and assesses
the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s system of internal control.
The Audit Committee meets with the Company’s external and internal
auditors, and reviews their audit plans, the internal audit programmes, and
the results of their examinations as well as their evaluations of the system
of internal control. It also reviews directors’ interests in contracts and
connected transactions. The Audit Committee reviews the Group’s and
the Company'’s financial statements and the auditor’s report thereon and
submits its views to Mr. Mak Hing Keung Thomas, an INED of the Board and
the chairman of the Audit Committee. During the year, the Audit Committee
comprises Mr. Mak Hing Keung Thomas, Mr. Cheng Hiu Yung and Mr. Lou
Robert Hsiu-sung, all of whom are INEDs.

During the year, two Audit Committee meetings were held by the Company.
The individual attendance of each member was as follows:
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Number of meetings
held/Number of

attendance

BITEERE

Name of Director EEHA R
Mr. Mak Hing Keung Thomas (Chairman) BEREE(FE) 2/2
Mr. Cheng Hiu Yung BB LA 2/2
Mr. Lou Robert Hsiu-sung BEEEE 2/2

The following is a summary of the work performed by the Audit Committee
during the year:

e reviewed the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s systems of
internal control and enterprise risk management;

e reviewed the consolidated financial statements and results of the
Group;

e reviewed the external auditor’s report thereon;
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reviewed the unaudited interim results of the Group for the six months
ended 30 June 2015;

reviewed the appropriateness of the Group’s accounting policies;

reviewed at various times the potential impact of the generally accepted
accounting principles in Hong Kong on the Company’s accounts;

reviewed the nature and scope of external audit and approved the
external audit fee;

reviewed adequacy of resources, qualifications and experiences of staff
of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting function, and their
training programmes; and

reviewed connected transactions entered into by the Group or
subsisting during the year.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company has appointed Ms. Ng Wing Shan, the assistant vice
president of SW Corporate Services Group Limited, as its joint company
secretary. Her primary corporate contact person at the Company is Ms.
Zheng Ruyan, the other joint company secretary of the Company and an
executive director. Ms. Ng Wing Shan and Ms. Zheng Ruyan had taken
the relevant professional trainings for no less than 15 hours during the year
ended 31 December 2015 in accordance with the Rule 3.29 of the Listing
Rules.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the remuneration reviewed and
approved by the Audit Committee on the audit and non-audit scope, paid or
payable to the auditor in respect of audit and non-audit services provided by
the auditor of the Group, RSM Hong Kong, were as follows:
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TSR BERSOM ST

2015

Nature of services RIS HEE 201545

RMB’000

ARMTT

Audit services FETARTS 850
Audit services relating to the listing of BRAARERMAE T LT

the Company’s shares on the Stock Exchange BET R 1,340

Non-audit services EHEE R 380
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR PREPARING THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors of the Company have acknowledged their responsibility
for preparing the financial statements for the year. There are no material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the external auditors of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the Independent
Auditor’s Report on pages 58 to 59 of this annual report.

THE RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE BOARD TO PERFORM CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE DUTIES

The Board is responsible for performing corporate governance duties, which
primarily includes the followings:

a. developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance, and make recommendations to the Board;

b. reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

c. reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

d. developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and Directors; and

e. reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure
in the Corporate Governance Report in the annual report of the
Company.

The Board has reviewed and approved the Corporate Governance Report
set out in this report. The Board reviewed the Company’s corporate
governance policies and practices, and the Company’s compliance with
legal and regulatory requirements.
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INTERNAL CONTROL

The internal control system is designed to facilitate the effectiveness and
efficiency of operations, safeguard assets against unauthorised use and
disposition, ensure the maintenance of proper accounting records and the
truth and fairness of the financial statements, and ensure compliance with
relevant legislation and regulations. It provides reasonable, but not absolute,
assurance against material misstatement or loss and manages rather than
eliminates risks associated with its business activities.

The Board, recognising its responsibilities in ensuring sound internal
controls, has developed a risk management framework for the Group to
assist in:

e identifying the significant risks faced by the Group in the operating
environment as well as evaluating the impact of such risks identified;

e developing the necessary measures for managing these risks; and

e monitoring and reviewing the effectiveness and adequacy of such
measures.

The Board has entrusted the Audit Committee with the responsibility to
oversee the implementation of the risk management framework of the
Group. In discharging this responsibility, the Audit Committee, assisted by
the Group’s Internal Audit Department:

e ensures that new and emerging risks relevant to the Group are promptly
identified by management;

e assesses the adequacy of action plans and control systems developed
to manage these risks; and

e monitors the implementation of the action plans and the effectiveness
and adequacy of the control systems.

These on-going processes have been in place, and reviewed periodically by
the Audit Committee.

The controls built into the risk management framework are intended to
manage and not expected to eliminate all risks of failure to achieve business
objectives. These controls provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance
against material misstatement of management and financial information or
against financial losses and fraud.

The Board, through the Audit Committee, has conducted an annual review
on the Group’s internal control system and considers that it is adequate and
effective. The Board is satisfied that the Group has fully complied with the
provisions on internal controls as set out in the CG Code.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting

The Directors may, whenever they think fit, convene an extraordinary general
meeting. General meetings shall also be convened on the written requisition
of any two or more members of the Company deposited at the principal
office of the Company in Hong Kong or, in the event the Company ceases
to have such a principal office, the head office or the Office specifying the
objects of the meeting and signed by the requisitionists, provided that such
requisitionists held as at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than
one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company which carries the right of
voting at general meetings of the Company. General meetings may also be
convened on the written requisition of any one member of the Company
which is a recognised clearing house (or its nominee(s)) deposited at the
principal office of the Company in Hong Kong at 18/F, Tesbury Centre, 28
Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong for the attention of the Board
or the Company secretary of the Company or, in the event the Company
ceases to have such a principal office, the head office or the Office at
8th Floor, Building No.10, Guanyinshan Business Center, Siming District,
Xiamen, China for the attention of the Board or the Company Secretary
of the Company. The written requisition must (i) specify the objects of the
extraordinary general meeting and (ii) must be signed by the requisitionist,
provided that such requisitionist held as at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
which carries the right of voting at general meetings of the Company. If the
Directors do not within 21 days from the date of deposit of the requisition
proceed duly to convene the meeting to be held within a further 21 days, the
requisitionist(s) themselves or any of them representing more than one-half
of the total voting rights of all of them, may convene the general meeting in
the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings may be
convened by the Directors provided that any meeting so convened shall not
be held after the expiration of three months from the date of deposit of the
requisition, and all expenses reasonably incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a
result of the failure of the Board of Directors shall be reimbursed to them by
the Company.

Putting Forward Proposals at General meetings

There are no provisions allowing shareholders of the Company to put
forward proposals at the general meeting under the Memorandum and
Articles of Association or under the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands. If shareholders of the Company wish to do so, they may follow the
procedures set out above to convene an extraordinary general meeting.

During the year, the Company did not convene general meeting.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company uses a range of communication tools to ensure its
shareholders are kept well informed of key business imperatives. These
include annual general meeting, annual report, interim report, various
notices, announcements and circulars.

The Company shall communicate other information to shareholders on a
need basis by way of announcement which will be posted on the websites
of Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Company. Other
than annual general meeting, extraordinary general meeting shall be held
pursuant to relevant rules and regulations if required. Shareholders shall
receive explanatory circulars and proxy forms relating to the extraordinary
general meetings. Proxy arrangements for the general meetings are in place
for shareholders who are unable to attend the meetings in person.

Shareholders and the investment community may make a request for
the Company’s information to the extent such information is publicly
available or send their enquiries to the Board in writing by email to
service@greenfresh.com or by addressing their enquiries to the Board in
the following manners: The Board China Greenfresh Group Co., Ltd. 18/F,
Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong or The Board
China Greenfresh Group Co., Ltd. 8th Floor, Building No. 10, Guanyinshan
Business Center, Siming District, Xiamen, China.

Shareholders’ questions about their shareholdings should be directed to
the Company’s Share Registrar and transfer office, Tricor Investor Services
Limited at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong.

AMENDMENTS TO THE ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATIONS

On 27 May 2015, the Company passed a resolution to approve and adopt
the new Articles of Association, which was effective since the Listing Date.
The updated Articles of Association was published on the website of the
Stock Exchange. Saved for the above, the Company has not made any
significant changes to its constitutional documents during the year ended 31
December 2015.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

In order to enhance communication between the Company and investors/
analysts, senior management members will hold meetings with investors/
analysts upon request as and when the need arises.

Investors are welcome to send email directly to the Company’s email at
service@greenfresh.com or browse the Company’s website for the latest
release and financial information.
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The directors submit the annual report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2015.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company and the principal activities
of its subsidiaries are set out in note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements.

PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

All subsidiaries incorporated in the PRC are wholly owned enterprises
established in the PRC.

As at 31 December 2015, the bank and cash balances of the
Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC denominated in RMB amounted to
RMB982,455,000 (2014: RMB334,812,000). Conversion of RMB into
foreign currencies is subject to the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations. Details of the subsidiaries of the Company are set
out in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2015, China’s economic operation encountered various expected and
unexpected challenges with increasing pressure on economic downturn. In
view of this complicated and uncertain scenario, the Company, while making
reference to the international political and economic situation, kept itself
abreast of the market, optimized its internal management, enhanced the
capacity of its own research and development, and uplifted the added value
of its products in order to achieve long term growth in both its business and
profitability.

FINANCIAL REVIEW AND ANALYSIS

Details of the financial review and analysis for the year are provided in the
Management Discussion and Analysis on pages 9 to 16 of this annual
report.

FUTURE DEVELOPMENT PLANS

Details of the Company’s future development plans are provided in the
Management Discussion and Analysis on pages 7 to 8 of this annual report.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND PERFORMANCE AND
THE COMPLIANCE OF LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Company is committed to the development of low carbon and
environmental protection concept, exploring a sustainable development
model with low energy consumption, low pollution and low emission,
and striving to build a resource conservation and environmental friendly
enterprise, and facilitating the sustainable development in ecological
environment. During the year, there was no illegal sewage incident, and
the energy-saving and emission reduction indicators were in compliance
with the requirements of the state and local governments. The Group has
established compliance procedures to ensure the compliance with relevant
laws, rules and regulations. During the year, the Group has compiled
with the relevant laws and regulations that have significant impact to the
operation of the Group.

RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group considers the employees, customers and business partners to
be crucial for the Group’s sustainable development. In regard with this,
we try to maintain a close relationship with our employees, offer premium
service to customers and strengthen cooperation with business partners.
The Group consistently provides adequate training and development
resources for employees to enable them to have an understanding of the
latest information of the market and industry development. In order to
maintain the core competitive edges of its products, the Group also commits
to provide premium products and services to its customer in a consistent
basis. For the year ended 31 December 2015, there is no significant or
material dispute between the Group and its customer and/or suppliers.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The profit of the Group for the year, the financial position of the Group as at
31 December 2015 and the Group’s cash flows and statement of changes
in equity for the year then ended are set out in the consolidated financial
statements on pages 60 to 64.

RESULTS AND DISTRIBUTION

The Board proposes to distribute a dividend of HK$20 cents per share,
accounting for approximately 39% of the distributable net profits, to the
shareholders of the Company, the proposed final dividend is subject to the
approval at the annual general meeting (the “AGM”) of the Company in 2015
to be held on 20 May 2016.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The forthcoming AGM of the Company will be held on 20 May 2016. To
ascertain the members’ entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM, the
register of members will be closed from 10 May 2016 to 20 May 2016, both
days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares of the Company
can be registered. Shareholders whose names appear on the register of
members of the Company on 10 May 2016 will be entitled to attend and
vote at the AGM. In order to qualify for attending and voting at the AGM,
Shareholders should ensure that Share transfer documents must be lodged
with the Company’s Branch Share Registrar and Transfer Office in Hong
Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong, for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on
9 May 2016.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during the year
are set out in note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.

DONATIONS

During the year, the Company made charitable donations totalling to HK$1
million.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment during the year are
set out in note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.

BANK LOANS

Particulars of bank loans of the Group as at 31 December 2015 are set out
in note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.

LISTING OF SHARES

The shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong on 18 June 2015, and 125,000,000 new ordinary
shares of US$0.01 each of the Company were allotted and issued for a total
cash consideration, before expenses, of HK$588,750,000 (approximately
RMB464,025,000).
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report are:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Zheng Songhui
Mr. Zheng Tianming
Ms. Zheng Ruyan

Non-executive Director:
Ms. Zhang Lin

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Mak Hing Keung Thomas

Mr. Lou Robert Hsiu-sung

Mr. Cheng Hiu Yung

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract with
the Company for a term of three years commencing from the date of the
Prospectus, which may be terminated by not less than three months’ notice
in writing served by either party on the other.

Each of the non-executive Directors has entered into a service contract with
the Company for a term of three years commencing from the date of the
Prospectus, which may be terminated by not less than three months’ notice
in writing served by either party on the other.

None of the Directors has a service contract which is not determinable by
the Company or any of its subsidiaries within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management are set out
in pages 22 to 26 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENT OR
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to which the
Company or any of its holding company, subsidiaries, or fellow subsidiaries
was a party, and in which a director of the Company had a material interest,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles
of association or the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands where the
Company was incorporated, which would oblige the Company to offer new
Shares on a pro rata basis to existing Shareholders.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to the Company’s Articles of Association, every director of
the Company shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the
Company against all losses or liabilities which he may sustain or incur in or
about the execution of the duties of his office or otherwise in relation thereto.
The Company maintains directors and officers liability insurance, which gives
appropriate cover for any legal action brought against its directors. The level
of the coverage is reviewed annually.

REMUNERATION POLICY AND REMUNERATION OF THE DIRECTORS

At the general meeting, the shareholders authorised the Board to determine
the remuneration of the Directors. The remuneration of the Directors
are determined by the Board base on the recommendation made by
the Remuneration Committee of the Board with reference to their job
complexity, workload and responsibilities and the Company’s remuneration
policy. Details of the remuneration of the Directors of the Group are set out
in note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

REMUNERATION POLICY OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The Company has altogether five highest paid individuals, including three
Directors, during the year ended 31 December 2015, and the details of
the analysis of the remuneration of the directors and senior management
are set out in the analysis of the Directors’ emoluments in note 13 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVE

As at 31 December 2015, the distributable reserve of the Group amounted
to approximately RMB556.79 million.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Ms. Zheng Ying, the daughter of Mr. Zheng Songhui, our chairman,
chief executive officer, executive Director and one of our Controlling
Shareholders, is our connected person by virtue of Rule 14A.07(4) of the
Listing Rules.
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On 18 November 2014, we entered into the following lease agreements (the
“Lease Agreements”) with Ms. Zheng Ying with respect to the land and
properties (the “Properties”) located at Longhai Yancuo Town Qiaoshan
Village Jin Pu (52/8 1 28 A 19 1L+ 8 )/):

MR2014%F11 A18H » HAIRENEL LA R EEE
MEBHETIUNSEN LR ME(ZEWE])
R THERS ([ZEHRERE])

Description of Leased

Lease Agreements Lessor Lessee Term Annual Rental Properties
HE R A AEA 1BE G2k HEMEH
Property A Lease Ms. Zheng Ying  Zhangzhou Greenfresh Commencing from RMB22,824 payablein  Land parcel of site area of 5,282
Agreement 18 November 2014 and arrear annually sg.m. (‘Property A”)
expiring on 17 November 2017
NERHEERE Bat o B2014511 318 B 5HA SENENVAZN  T0EHES282F kAR
W2017411 A17B 514 AEB22,8247T (M%)
Property B Lease Ms. Zheng Ying  Fujian Greenfresh Commencing from 18 March 2015 RMB100,452 payable in - Buildings of total gross floor area
Agreement Foods and expiring on 17 March 2018 arrear annually of 1,287.88 sq.m. used for
production base, warehouse
and office purpose (“Property
B’)
mEZRERE Bt BRGERR B2015F3 A 18ARR BENEAFAZN  BEEER,287.88 T RAE
Wik2018%F3 417 B 5H AR#100,45270 F(xZ])) - EEEE
RERBAERS
Property C Lease Ms. Zheng Ying  Fujian Greenfresh Commencing from 18 March 2015 RMB163,680 payable in - Buildings of total gross floor area
Agreement Foods and expiring on 17 March 2018 arrear annually of 1,363.98 sg.m. used for office
purpose (“‘Property C’)
NEREERE Bat BRGERM B2015F3 A 18ARR BENENFAZN  EIEE®E363.98FAKRME

W 201843317 B 55

We are entitled to terminate each of the Lease Agreements by giving a 30-
day prior notice. Upon its expiration, we will have the priority in leasing the
Properties under each of the Lease Agreements from Ms. Zheng Ying upon
negotiation of the rentals and signing of the renewed lease agreements.

The Properties were originally leased by us from Fujian Minhui Packaging
Group Company Limited (BE2EEREESEABRAA) (“Minhui
Packaging”), an Independent Third Party. The lease agreements with Minhui
Packaging were terminated upon Ms. Zheng Ying acquired the Properties
from Minhui Packaging in November 2014.

The Directors confirm that the terms of the Lease Agreements are on normal
commercial terms and are determined by the Group and Ms. Zheng Ying
on arm'’s length basis with reference to the historical annual rentals paid to
Minhui Packaging for leasing of the Properties.
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In view of the fact that Ms. Zheng Ying is a connected person of the
Company, the transactions under the Lease Agreements constitute
continuing connected transactions of the Company (“Lease Transactions”)
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Pursuant to Rule 14A.81 of
the Listing Rules, the considerations payable under each of the Lease
Agreements are considered on an aggregate basis for the purpose of
classification of the continuing connected transactions.

ERWRL L AR FAREAL - 15 ETARA
F14AE - ZSHERAE TR HBAAR A
HERERS((RERERS ) < RIE LT

F14A815 XM EHHRENORECHITE
MEXHORIEEHER -

For the year ended 31 December
BZE12A31ALFE

2016 2017 2018

Lease Agreements HEWZH 20164 20174 20184
Property A Lease Agreement MEREEWZE RMB22,824 RMB19,020 -
AEE22,82471 AR®19,0207T -

Property B Lease Agreement ML HE R RMB100,452 RMB100,452 RMB16,742
AR¥100,45270 AR¥E100,45270 AR#16,7427C

Property C Lease Agreement MERBEWZE RMB163,680 RMB163,680 RMB27,280
AR#163,6807t ARK¥163,6807 AR27,2807T

Total st RMB286,956 RMB286,956 RMB44,022
AR#286,95670 AREE286,95670 ARM44,0227C

Based on the above annual cap for each of the three years ending 31
December 2016, 2017 and 2018, each of the applicable percentage ratios
under the Listing Rules will be less than 5.0% and less than HK$3,000,000.

Given that each of the Lease Agreements is on normal commercial terms,
according to Rule 14A.76(1)(c) of the Listing Rules, the Lease Transactions
will be exempt from the reporting, announcement and the independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under the Listing Rules.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTION

Details of the related party transactions during the year ended 31 December
2015 are set out in note 35 to the consolidated financial statements of
this annual report. Save as disclosed above, no related party transactions
set out in note 35 to the consolidated financial statements constitute
discloseable connected transactions or continuing connected transactions
under the Listing Rules. The Company has complied with the disclosure
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect of its
connected transactions and continuing connected transactions.

NON-COMPETITION CONFIRMATION

The Company has received the written confirmation provided by each
of the controlling shareholders, confirming that each of the controlling
shareholders have not breached the Deed of Non-Competition dated
27 May 2015 entered into between the Company and the controlling
shareholders.

The independent non-executive Directors of the Company had reviewed
the status of compliance and received confirmation by the controlling
shareholders of the Company and, on the basis of such confirmation, are
of the view that the controlling shareholders of the Company have complied
with the deed of non-competition and such deed of non-competition has
been enforced by the Company in accordance with its terms.

B E 20164 20174 K 2018412 A31H
IESEFEERFNFE LR - BB EMARRMSE
AE DR R5.0% B 2 53,000,0005 7T °

HREZEHERE R EFHERRY - 1R
B LEWRAIE14A76(1)(C) I ZESHEX 55
REETETRAAEHER - QB ILREL
HERARTE °

BELRS

REBMPE E2015512 531 H I FE NI BIEE
RGFBIN BN AFREE S ISHREM ISR -
B B EE SN SR BTN R LR A TR R
oS A R SBN ERAIE T ATREN
BEISHIFEMBEERS - ARRREBER
SMBEEBEIIEFA LMBEUNF14ATRN
WEHRT -

FFHFHER

ARARBEWE S ERBENEEER  BRSE
R A% B 0 4 58 IR AR A B B B AR AR R 20154 5
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PRE-IPO SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company’s pre-IPO share option scheme was adopted by written
resolutions of the then Shareholders dated 27 May 2015 (the “Pre-IPO
Share Option Scheme”) and a summary of the principal terms are set out
as follows:

@i

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

Purpose

The purpose of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme is to provide
incentive or reward to Eligible Persons (as mentioned in paragraph (i)
below) for their contribution to, and continuing efforts to promote the
interests of, our Company and to enable our Group to recruit and retain
high-calibre employees.

Participants

The Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme is available to the directors and
employees (whether full time or part time) of any member of our Group.

Maximum number of shares to be allotted

The maximum number of the Shares with respect to which options
may be granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme shall be
25,000,000 Shares representing approximately 5% of our issued
share capital immediately after completion of the Global Offering and
the Capitalisation Issue (assuming the Over-allotment Option, options
granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme and any options
which may be granted under the Share Option Scheme are not
exercised).

Maximum number of options to any individual

No option shall be granted to any Eligible Person (the “Relevant
Eligible Person”) if, at the relevant time of grant, the number of Shares
issued and to be issued upon exercise of all Options (granted and
proposed to be granted, whether exercised, cancelled or outstanding)
to the Relevant Eligible Person in the 12-month period expiring on the
date on which an offer of the grant of an option under the Share Option
Scheme is made to the Relevant Eligible Person would exceed 1% of
the total number of Shares in issue at such time, unless:

e such grant has been duly approved, in the manner prescribed
by the relevant provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules, by
ordinary resolution of the Shareholders in general meeting, at
which the Relevant Eligible Person and his associates abstained
from voting;

e a circular regarding the grant has been dispatched to the
Shareholders in a manner complying with, and containing the
information specified in, the relevant provisions of Chapter 17 of
the Listing Rules; and

e the number and terms (including the Subscription Price) of such
options are fixed before the general meeting of our Company at
which the same are approved.

Subscription price

The Subscription Price in respect of each Share issued pursuant to
the exercise of Options granted hereunder shall be determined by the
Board at its own discretion and set out in the relevant offer letter(s),
provided that it shall not be less than the nominal value of the Shares.
The subscription price in respect of each share under the Pre-IPO
Share Option Scheme is HK$2.0.
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(vi)

Remaining term of the scheme

After the Latest Practicable Date, no further options will be offered or
granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme but in other respects
the provisions of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme shall remain in full
force and effect to the extent necessary to give effect to the exercise
of any options granted prior thereto or otherwise as may be required in
accordance with the provisions of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme,
and options which are granted on or before the Latest Practicable Date
may continue to be exercisable in accordance with their terms of issue.
No option may be granted more than 10 years after the date of approval
of the Share Option Scheme.

(vii) The minimum period for which an option must be held before it can

be exercised

There is no minimum period for which an option must be held before
it can be exercised under the Share Option Scheme, provide that
in granting options under the Share Option Scheme, the Board can
determine whether there is any minimum holding period.

(viii) Exercise period and vesting period and expiry date of exercise

(ix)

()

period

Unless otherwise provided in the offer letter(s), options granted under
the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme are to be vested and exercised
during the three years after the Listing Date in the following manner:
(1) agrantee is entitled to exercise 40% of the total number of options
granted after 6 months from the Listing Date;

(2) a grantee is entitled to exercise an additional 30% of the total
number of options granted after 18 months from the Listing Date;
and

(8) agrantee is entitled to exercise a further additional 30% of the total

number of options granted after 30 months from the Listing Date.
Exercise of options

Any exercise of an option granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme is conditional upon:

(1) the Listing Committee granting approval of the listing of, and
permission to deal in, the Shares which may fall to be issued
pursuant to the exercise of any options granted under the Pre-IPO
Share Option Scheme;

(2) the commencement of dealings in the Shares on the Stock
Exchange;
(8) any such conditions as may be specified in the offer letter in

respect of the grant of options. The expiry date of the exercise
period of any such options shall be set out more particularly in the
relevant offer letter in respect of the grant of options.

Rights personal to grantees

The option shall be personal to the grantee and shall not be assignable
nor transferable, and no grantee shall in any way sell, transfer, charge,
mortgage, encumber or create any interest (legal or beneficial) in favor
of any third party over or in relation to any option.

(vi)

(vii)
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The following table discloses the details of the outstanding options of the
Company held by the directors, connected persons and certain employees
of the Company under Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme as at 31 December
2015.

TREBAAREE - BEALIRETERER
2015F 12 A1 HRE B X AMEE AT BB
BHNARRRRITEERENES -

Number of options

BREHE
On
31 December  Exercise  Exercise
Grantee’s name Date of grant Granted Exercised Cancelled Lapsed 2015 price period
R2015%
ARAERE RILAH g [EXin;d [REiE 2AN 12A31A T8 Gy
(HKD)
()
Directors
2
Zheng Songhui 17 June 2015 2,000,000 - - - 2,000,000 2.00 Note
iR 2015564178 i3
Zheng Ruyan 17 June 2015 1,500,000 - - - 1,500,000 2.00 Note
g 2015F6A17H Bt sx
Zheng Tianming 17 June 2015 1,500,000 - - - 1,500,000 2.00 Note
BXH 2015564178 i3
Senior Management
BRERE
Chen Wei 17 June 2015 1,500,000 - - - 1,500,000 2.00 Note
BfE 2015564178 i3
Employee’s in aggregate 17 June 2015 18,500,000 - - - 18,500,000 2.00 Note
EEEH 201564178 i3
25,000,000 - - - 25,000,000
Note: LB

(1) A transferee is entitled to exercise 40% of the total number of options after 6 months from the
Listing Date.

(2) A transferee is entitled to exercise an additional 30% of the total number of options after 18
months from the Listing Date.

(3) A transferee is entitled to exercise a further additional 30% of the total number of options 30
months from the Listing Date.

The estimated fair value of the options on this date is approximately
RMB52,680,000, details are provided in note 31 to consolidated financial
statement. The value of the options is of subjectivity and unpredictability.
It depends on various assumptions used in estimate and is subject to the
limitation of the model.

(1) EEARR LT AH6MEARITEBRIELEN40% °

(2) EFEARR LT BEN8{EARITRBREREEFEING0%

(3) EBAAK LT AMI0MEAKTTERERELBRNFEIN
30% °

BREAZABPENEFAABENAARYE
52,680,0007T * EEEFF YIS AR A B 75 RK BT
31 - ZHEMNEEMAE TEMEUES 2R
THEBERNZEEBE B2 EENXMRE -

2015 £ / PG ESEBR A A
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company’s share option scheme was adopted by written resolutions
of the then shareholders dated 27 May 2015 (the “Share Option Scheme”)
and a summary of the principal terms are set out as follows:

U

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Purpose of the scheme

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide incentive or
reward to Eligible Persons (as defined in paragraph below) for their
contribution to, and continuing efforts to promote the interests of, our
Group and for such other purposes as the Board may approve from
time to time.

Grantee

The Board may, at its absolute discretion, offer eligible persons (being
any director or employee (whether full time or part time), consultant
or advisor of our Group who in the sole discretion of the Board has
contributed to and/or will contribute to our Group) (the “Eligible
Persons”) the Options to subscribe for such number of Shares in
accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme.

Maximum number of shares to be alloted

The maximum aggregate number of Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of
our Company, must not, in aggregate, exceed 30% of the total number
of Shares in issue from time to time. No options may be granted under
the Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Company if this will result in such limit being exceeded.

At the time of adoption by our Company of the Share Option Scheme
or any new share option scheme (the “New Scheme”), the aggregate
number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options
to be granted under the Share Option Scheme, the New Scheme and
all schemes existing at such time (the “Existing Schemes”) of our
Company must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the total number of the
Shares in issue as at the Listing Date (the “Scheme Mandate Limit”),
representing a maximum of 50,000,000 shares.

Maximum number of options to any individual

No option shall be granted to any Eligible Person (the “Relevant
Eligible Person”) if, at the relevant time of grant, the number of Shares
issued and to be issued upon exercise of all Options (granted and
proposed to be granted, whether exercised, cancelled or outstanding)
to the Relevant Eligible Person in the 12-month period expiring on the
date on which an offer of the grant of an option under the Share Option
Scheme is made to the Relevant Eligible Person would exceed 1% of
the total number of Shares in issue at such time, unless:
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ARRR BT 850 2015F 5 A27 HA B
BERAEFRERZM ([BRESE ) 2K
HELR AT

() =EEW
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e such grant has been duly approved, in the manner prescribed
by the relevant provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules, by
ordinary resolution of the Shareholders in general meeting, at
which the Relevant Eligible Person and his associates abstained
from voting;

e a circular regarding the grant has been dispatched to the
Shareholders in a manner complying with, and containing the
information specified in, the relevant provisions of Chapter 17 of
the Listing Rules; and

e the number and terms (including the Subscription Price) of such
options are fixed before the general meeting of our Company at
which the same are approved.

Remaining term of the scheme

No option may be granted more than 10 years after the date of approval
of the Share Option Scheme.

Subscription price

The subscription price for a Share in respect of any particular share
option granted under the Share Option Scheme(which shall be payable
upon exercise of the share option) shall be a price solely determined
by the Board and notified to the Eligible Person and shall be at least
the highest of (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of granting option, which
must be a business day; (ii) the average of the closing price of the
Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for
the five business days immediately preceding the date of offer to grant
option (“Offer Date”) (provided that the new issue price shall be used
as the closing price for any business day falling within the period before
the listing Shares where our Company has been listed for less than five
business days as at the Offer Date); and (i) the nominal value of the
Share. A consideration of RMB 1 is payable on acceptance of the offer
of an option.

(vii) The minimum period for which an option must be held before it can

be exercised

There is no minimum period for which an option must be held before
it can be exercised under the Share Option Scheme, provide that
in granting options under the Share Option Scheme, the Board can
determine whether there is any minimum holding period.

For the year ended 31 December 2015, no share option was granted
under the Share Option Scheme.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Group was entered into or
subsisted during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the directors is interested in any business apart from the Group’s
business, which is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the
business of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2015, the directors of the Company have the following
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFQ”)) as recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the
SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to the Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies (the “Model
Code”) set out in the Listing Rules:

Number of ordinary shares/
underlying shares held

Name of director Nature of interest

EEEH

REEAMBER L FHEEAABAEEEER
BREMNBEEXB 2 EERITRIENAL -

EERBFEER 2T

BEESFNEARBEXBEEZRNEERFHIE
Y IR SR B R P A (T s o

EERRO - HERORES 2R

R2015%F12A31H » FEEF R AR A s (T
B EZE(TEREHFRBERIN(TESREE

&5 1) EBXVED) B AR IEFEH KA E 1§05 352
IEREM&R 2 B A ATEL 2 Rk B R A
RZARKY - BERG RMESZESRIRE L
MHREZ EMAREBERHEITESF R HNIZAESTE
Uﬁ+#ﬁ)mﬁﬁ$ AIREBHARSHA

NEl([BERFT]) 2 iEmmT -

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding

in the Company

ARARFRZ
EEpE EaME FrisE @R MR IR 15 BROBEDL
Mr. Zheng Songhui Interests in controlled corporation 271,892,777 54.78%
(Note 1)
AR A REEEE R R (F3E1)
Beneficial owner 2,000,000
(Note 3)
EmEAA (Pf7E3)
Total 273,892,777
B
Mr. Zheng Tianming Interests in controlled corporation 16,310,305 3.56%
(Note 2)
EREA S AE WRIEEEER (M#7E2)
Beneficial owner 1,500,000
(Note 3)
BEmnEAA (Ff45E3)
Total 17,810,305
B
Ms. Zheng Ruyan Beneficial owner 1,500,000 (Note 3)
R EnEAA (M$7E3) 0.30%
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Notes:

M

Held by Mr. Zheng Songhui through his wholly owned Song Rising Co., Ltd (“Song Rising”) and
Grand Ample Limited (“Grand Ample”), and Song Rising and Grand Ample owned 249,547,660
and 22,345,117 shares respectively. Consequently, Mr. Zheng Songhui was deemed to be
interested in an aggregate of 271,892,777 shares held by Song Rising and Grand Ample.
Mr. Zheng Songhui has pledged 63,090,220 shares for personal purposes on 23 December
2015.

Held by Mr. Zheng Tianming through his wholly owned Sunny Foods Co., Ltd (“Sunny Foods”)
and Sunny Foods owned 16,310,305 Shares. Consequently, Mr. Zheng Tianming was deemed
to be interested in the 16,310,305 Shares held by Sunny Foods.

The Company adopted the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme on 27 May 2015. Mr. Zheng
Songhui, Mr. Zheng Tianming and Ms. Zheng Ruyan were granted 2 million, 1.5 million and 1.5
million share options respectively. As to 31 December 2015, the above share options were not
exercised.

Save from disclosed above, as at 31 December 2015, none of the directors

nor chief executive of the Company had interests or short positions in

the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which are required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO, or which are required,
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to
therein, or which are required, pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS

As at 31 December 2015, to the best knowledge of the directors of the
Company, as indicated by the register recording share interests and/or short
positions required to be kept under section 336 of Part XV of the SFO, the
persons (not being directors or chief executive of the Company) listed in the
following table had interest and/or short positions in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company:

Number of ordinary shares/

FERRZIFRERS
MR2015F12A31H * BARREERA - RIEFE
H N E GBI EXVEEEI36IEREBEFEZRG

B/ SRBBRMAR - TRAFIALTQLIEF
ARREBERTRITHRABR)EB AR BRI
BARD B M Es e SOR A

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding

Name Nature of interest underlying shares held in the Company
AARFRZ
ma, EB EHEME FisZiBR ARG BABEDH
Song Rising Beneficial owner 249,547,660 (Long positions) 49.91%
E=mEB A (&)
COFCO (Beijing) Agricultural  Beneficial owner 26,448,790 (Long positions) 5.29%
Industrial Equity Investment
Fund (A Limited Partnership)
(Note)
Pl (AER)EXRERE EmMEAA (&)
REES(BREE)
(P 5E)
COFCO Agricultural Industrial  Interested in controlled 26,448,790 (Long positions) 5.29%

Investment Fund Management corporation
Co., Ltd.
ERERAF

Note: 26,448,790 Shares were held by COFCO (Beijing) Agricultural Industrial Equity Investment Fund

(A Limited Partnership) (‘COFCO Fund”) and COFCO Agricultural Industrial Investment Fund
Management Co., Ltd. (“COFCO Fund Management”) was the manager of COFCO Fund.

iSeOFSE =k

Save from disclosed above, as at 31 December 2015, the Directors were
not aware of any other persons (not being directors or chief executive of
the Company) who had any interests or short positions in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or
which would be recorded in the register required to be kept under Section
336 of the SFO.

(458)

FFE © 26,448,790 M MR (L) BEEXRBREES
(ERAE)((HREES RS MPEREEXECER
BRECAR [FRESER DATRESHERA -

B EXCRTHEEE SN 0 R2015F12A31H » siES
FrAn - A EMAL(WIEARBESHER
THAB)BEBREFESFKEERMNEXVIBE2R

37 EEIERSUZBRIAR A AR FE SR R SR B IR IR
F MEAEIEN FE336IKFEEMNELMAAR TG
AR AR KA -
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Directors’ Report

ESERE

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED
SECURITIES

During the year, the Company did not redeem any of its listed securities.
Neither did the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchase or sell any of
the Company’s listed securities.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Total sales to the Group’s five largest customers accounted for less than
30% of the Group’s revenue for the year.

Total purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for
approximately 38% of the Group’s purchases for the year, in which the
purchases from the largest supplier accounted for approximately 19% of the
Group’s total purchases for the year.

None of the Directors, their associates or any shareholders (which to
the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s
share capital) has any interest in the Group’s five largest suppliers.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the directors of the Company as at the latest
practicable date prior to the issue of this report (being 31 December 2015),
the Company has maintained the prescribed public float under the Listing
Rules.

AUDITOR

RSM Hong Kong is the auditor of the Company. RSM Hong Kong retire
and, being eligible, offer themselves for reappointment. A resolution for the
re-appointment of RSM Hong Kong as the auditor of the Company will be
proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

For and on behalf of the Board

CHINA GREENFRESH GROUP CO., LTD.
Zheng Songhui

Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 March 2016
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B 2R E

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
CHINA GREENFRESH GROUP CO., LTD.
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of CHINA GREENFRESH
GROUP CO., LTD. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries set out on pages 60 to 115,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2015, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies
and other explanatory information.

Directors’ responsibility for the consolidated financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards
Boards and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements
based on our audit and to report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report. We conducted our audit in accordance
with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

RSM

BHESEEERRA R
SRR R
(RASESEMRINERDA)

EEEEREIINFOR16EFEGEEEFRAA
(TE&2R ) REMBAR G MBHRE - 21EN2015
F12A B ZHERMBHANE BEZXALFREZHE
BalkEtEzENER SeRaEDRREAREER
EX  URBREFBRBERABHAES -

ESRGEUBRRARENEE

EAREFARBRBE G ERNE 8 & ARG BB
BRELEYRBBRBAGINBEEERGHRAREMNA
FiRRIEANGEMBRE  ARHERBLENR
MERAR  UEREHSAMBRITFERRIFHR
R EHMEAFRRRAL ©

BBETHEE

EENAIRREBESERNER  UREHREMBR
RREBRWERZRBERBRE @ R 2 IMRREL HF
HthBH - EETERARENABRAEMEMALE
EREEERNEE - EEERBEBSAMASEMZ
EFREBMEMETERLE - RFEAUBRKEFHETE
B WHBEIRATER  NEBEREUZEAUG
BREDFHEMEARERRL

ANNUAL REPORT 2015 / CHINA GREENFRESH GROUP CO., LTD.

58



Independent Auditor’s Report
B 2R E

Auditor’s responsibility (Continued)

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts
and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected
depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the
entity’s preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the
financial position of the Company and its subsidiaries as at 31 December 2015, and
their financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

RSM Hong Kong
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

24 March 2016
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
rEEaRHEMEEIER

For the year ended 31 December 2015
HBE2015F12A31BIEFE

2015 2014
2015%F 20144
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 ARET T AREBT T
Revenue = 7 762,118 545,665
Changes in fair value of biological assets EMEENREER
less cost to sell LSH B AR 246,716 211,122
Cost of goods sold EEYmAA (747,722) (550,393)
Business tax and auxiliary charges LR S KM (798) (924)
Gross profit EF 260,314 205,470
Other income HAbUg A 8 24,385 9,947
Selling expenses PHERMK (3,873) (6,083)
Administrative expenses 1THAX (59,774) (30,800)
Profit from operations Fed=pryl] 221,052 178,634
Finance costs B R AN 10 (615) (1,194)
Profit before tax AT = A 220,437 177,340
Income tax expense FriS iR 11 (2,705) (2,252)
Profit for the year FREF 12 217,732 175,088
Other comprehensive income for the year, FREMEEKE
net of tax MEREE - -
Total comprehensive income for the year FREEWESLEEE 217,732 175,088
Profit for the year attributable to owners RATHEE AES
of the Company FRER 217,732 175,088
Total comprehensive income attributable to RATEE AES
owners of the Company ZEWREAEEE 217,732 175,088
Earnings per share SRER 16
Basic LN RMBA R RMBA R #&
49.2 cents? 46.7 cents?
Diluted e RMBA R RMBA R
49.0 cents? 46.7 cents?
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e BRI R

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment
Prepaid land lease payments
Other assets

Total non-current assets

Current assets

Inventories

Biological assets

Trade receivables

Deposits, prepayments and other receivables
Bank and cash balances

Total current assets
TOTAL ASSETS

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity attributable to owners of the Company
Share capital

Other reserves

Total equity

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities

Trade payables

Accruals and other payables
Bank loan

Current tax liabilities

Total current liabilities

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Approved by the Board of Directors on 24 March 2016 and are signed on behalf by:

Zheng Songhui
ERARIE

BE

FRBEE
IE g
AR L IEER
Hib&E

FRBEERE

REEE
&
EMERE

B 5 EWFIE

Be  RNRAREMMEKKIEA

RITRIRNE AR

REEERR

BEHRHE

EmEFkEE

ARRIGEE AEEERS

A
HAib

TR ABE

REEE
%

B 5 ENFIE

=

FEET & A e EL A A 5ROR

RITER
B IE A (E

BB ERER

RERkEERER

(]

Note
Bt 7

17
18
19

20
21
22

24

25
27

28
29
30

2015
20155
RMB’000
AR¥TT

161,802
36,858
706

199,366

18,999
53,102
124,480
112,816
1,014,346

1,323,743

1,523,109

30,586
1,422,710

1,453,296

41,278
17,483
10,000

1,052

69,813

1,523,109

At 31 December 2015
20159 12H31H

2014
20144
RMB’000
ARETT

151,441
35,270
723

187,434

23,759
93,707
58,854
113,039
336,519

625,878

813,312

375
758,401

758,776

16,480
19,844
18,000

212

54,536

813,312

EELMN2016F3A24 B EN B T EERRESE -
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
MEERBER

For the year ended 31 December 2015
HBE2015F12A31BIEFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

LNETE 2SN
Statutory Share
Share Other Share surplus option Retained Total
capital reserve premium reserve reserve earnings equity
EERER
B Hitrf s RADE(E e BRERE REBF BRAE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETT ARBTr ARETT ARETx
(Note 27(b)())  (Note 27(b)(i)) (Note 27(b)(i)) (Note 27(b)(iv)
(ak2r(o)i)  (Hakaro)i))  (Pke7(o)i) (Fak27(o)iv)
At 1 January 2014 7201441 A1 354 (1,000 50,797 31,651 - 423183 513985
Total comprehensive income FREENEEE
for the year - - - - - 175,088 175,088
Transfer to statutory surplus reserve BEZETERGBEE - - - 1,698 - (1,698) -
Issue of share capital (note 25(a)) BATIRA (P 3E25(a)) 21 = 69,682 = = = 69,703
Changes in equity for the year FRERS 21 - 69,682 1,698 - 173,390 244,791
At 31 December 2014 R2014F12A31H 375 (1,000) 129,479 33,349 = 596,573 758,776
At 1 January 2015 R2015F1A18 375 (1,000) 129,479 33,349 = 596,573 758,776
Total comprehensive income FRZANGEE
for the year - - - - - 217,732 217,732
Issue of new shares pursuant REEHEERT
to global offering (note 25(c)) HRR 1A (HiFE25(c)) 7,640 = 456,385 = - - 464,025
Cost of issuing new shares pursuant to 181 2 FkE &£ 347
global offering R A - - (19,038) - - - (19,038)
Capitalisation issue of shares (note 25(d)) &2t 217 /A (K £25(d)) 22,571 = (22,571) = = - -
Equity-settled share-based payments AR EER ) A
B2 3 = - - - 31,801 - 31,801
Transfer to statutory surplus reserve BRELTRHBRHE = = = 776 = (776) =
Dissolution of a subsidiary RE—FMB AR - - - (2,500 - 2,500 -
Changes in equity for the year FRERZE) 30,211 - 414,776 (1,724) 31,801 219,456 694,520
At 31 December 2015 12015512731 R 30,586 (1.000) 544,255 31,625 31,801 816,020 1,453,296
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
mERERER

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit before tax
Adjustments for:
Changes in fair value of biological assets less cost to sell
Finance costs
Interest income
Depreciation
Amortisation of prepaid land lease payments
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Equity-settled share-based payments

Operating profit before working capital changes
Decrease in other assets
Decrease in inventories
Increase in biological assets
Increase in trade receivables
Decrease/(increase) in deposits, prepayments, and other
receivables
Increase in trade payables
(Decrease)/increase in accruals and other payables

Cash generated from operations
Income taxes paid
Interest paid

Net cash generated from operating activities
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Advances to a director

Purchase of property, plant and equipment

Proceeds from disposals of property, plant and equipment
Earnest money paid for acquisition of land use rights
Interest received

Net cash used in investing activities

EEEDTRERE

754 A i 7

AR
EYMEERAERBRHERAR
BATS R AR
B A
e
TET 30 E R
HEME  BERRBZER
UARE R AE B AR AT 2 (3R

BEACBEAMELE T

HABEER D

FERD

EYE RN

B 5 e WK IRE I

BE - BNRAREMEKKE
A (3Ehn)

B 5 I S SRR E I

e B R R B A A 3R
Cma), /42 m

RETEERERE
B FTEH
BERFE

IR TERE TSI £
REFHZRERE

BT —RER

BEYX  BENMRE

HEWE BB RREHMSHREA
EffRELInERE HES
BEHHE

REEHIAESFHE
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For the year ended 31 December 2015
BZE2015F12A31BILFE

2015
20155
RMB’000
AR¥TT

220,437

246,716
615
(7,255)
9,639
761
33
31,801

502,747
17

4,760
(206,111)
(65,626)

5,323
24,798

(2,361)

263,547
(1,865)
(615)

261,067

(30,704)
10,671
(7,449)

7,255

(20,227)

2014
20144
RMB’000
ARETT

177,340

211,122
1,194
(1,818)
9,158
748

17

397,756
16
2,904
(212,880)
(12,017)

(9,082)
304

8,590

175,691
(8,174)
(1,194)

171,223

@)
(20,723)
25
(38,700)
1,818

(57,582)



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

g-t-AI N-gi—1
Wi = EEHH’E%‘% For the year ended 31 December 2015
HE20165F12A31 HILFE
2015 2014
2015%F 20144
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETT
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES BRETH2EESRE
Bank loans raised BSIRITER 10,000 18,000
Repayment of bank loans BBRITER (18,000) (20,000)
Issue of share capital EEITREAR 444,987 69,703
Repayment from shareholders RSB - 328
Net cash generated from financing activities REEEAEIRESFE 436,987 68,031
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS RBERRSSEYIEMFER 677,827 181,672
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 1 JANUARY MM A1TENRERRESEEY 336,519 154,847
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 31 DECEMBER M12B31HMEESREESESEY 1,014,346 336,519
ANALYSIS OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS RERBRESEBEYIM
Bank and cash balances SRITRIBE A8 1,014,346 336,519
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE BB IRR MR

GENERAL INFORMATION

CHINA GREENFRESH GROUP CO., LTD. (the “Company”) was incorporated in
Cayman Islands with limited liability. The address of its registered office is Cricket
Square, Hutchins Drive, P. O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands. The address of its principal place of business is 8th Floor, Building No.
10, Guanyinshan Business Centre, Siming District, Xiamen, People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC”). The Company’s shares are listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities of its
subsidiaries are set out in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company (the “Directors”), Song Rising
Co., Ltd., a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands, is the immediate
parent, and Mr. Zheng Songhui who is a director of the Company, is the ultimate
controlling party of the Company.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
all applicable International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board. IFRSs comprise International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”); International Accounting Standards (“IAS”); and
Interpretations. These consolidated financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) and with the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622).

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS AND REQUIREMENTS

(a) Application of new and revised IFRSs

In the current year, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the
“Group”) has adopted all the new and revised IFRSs issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board that are relevant to its operations
and effective for its accounting year beginning on 1 January 2015:

Amendment to IAS 16 and IAS 38 (Annual Improvements to IFRSs
2010-2012 Cycle)

The amendment clarifies how the gross carrying amount and the
accumulated depreciation/amortisation are treated where an entity uses the
revaluation model. As the Group does not use the revaluation model, there
was no effect on its consolidated financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS AND REQUIREMENTS (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Application of new and revised IFRSs (Continued)

Amendment to IFRS 8 (Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2010-2012
Cycle)

The amendment requires disclosure of the judgements made by
management in applying the aggregation criteria to operating segments, and
clarifies that reconciliations of the total of the reportable segments’ assets
to the entity’s assets are required only if the segment assets are reported
regularly. These clarifications had no effect on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements.

Amendment to IFRS 13 (Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2011-2013
Cycle)

The amendment clarifies that the portfolio exception in IFRS 13 - allowing an
entity to measure the fair value of a group of financial assets and financial
liabilities on a net basis - applies to all contracts (including non-financial)
within the scope of IAS 39/IFRS 9. This had no effect on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.

New and revised IFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied new and revised IFRSs that have been
issued but are not yet effective for the financial year beginning 1 January
2015. The Directors anticipate that the new and revised IFRSs will be
adopted in the Group’s consolidated financial statements when they
become effective. The Group is in the process of assessing, where
applicable, the potential effect of all new and revised IFRSs that will be
effective in future periods but is not yet in a position to state whether these
new and revised IFRSs would have a material impact on its results of
operations and financial position.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments!
IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers'
IFRS 16 Lease?

Amendments to IAS 1 Disclosure Initiative®

Amendments to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows*

Amendments to IAS 16
and |IAS 38

Clarification of Acceptable Methods of
Depreciation and Amortisation®

Amendments to IFRSs Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2012-2014
Cycle®

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, with earlier
application permitted.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019, with earlier
application permitted if IFRS 15 has also been applied.

g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016, with earlier
application permitted.
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017, earlier

application is not permitted.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE BB IRR MR

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS AND REQUIREMENTS (Continued)

(c) New Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622)

The requirements of Part 9 “Accounts and Audit” of the new Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622) came into operation during the financial
year. Although the Company is not incorporated in Hong Kong, the Listing
Rules require the companies to comply with the new Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (Cap. 622). As a result, there are changes to presentation and
disclosures of certain information in the consolidated financial statements.

(d) Amendments to the Listing Rules

The Stock Exchange in April 2015 released revised Appendix 16 of the
Listing Rules in relation to disclosure of financial information in annual
reports that are applicable for accounting periods ended on or after 31
December 2015, with earlier application permitted. The Company has
adopted the amendments resulting in changes to the presentation and
disclosure of certain information in the consolidated financial statements.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical
cost convention, unless mentioned otherwise in the accounting policies below
(e.g. biological assets that are measured at fair value).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires the use
of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise
its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The
areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated
financial statements are disclosed in note 5.

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below.

(a) Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of
the Company and its subsidiaries made up to 31 December. Subsidiaries
are entities over which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity
when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the entity. The Group has power over an entity when the Group has
existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities,
i.e. activities that significantly affect the entity’s returns.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R BB IRAR MR

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Consolidation (Continued)

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential voting rights as
well as potential voting rights held by other parties. A potential voting right is
considered only if the holder has the practical ability to exercise that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred
to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results in a loss
of control represents the difference between (i) the fair value of the
consideration of the sale plus the fair value of any investment retained in that
subsidiary and (ii) the Company’s share of the net assets of that subsidiary
plus any remaining goodwill and any accumulated foreign currency
translation reserve relating to that subsidiary.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of
subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency
with the policies adopted by the Group.

Foreign currency translation
(i) Functional and presentation currency

Iltems included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s
entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the “functional currency”).
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi
(“RMB”), which is the Company’s functional and presentation
currency.

(i) Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the functional
currency on initial recognition using the exchange rates prevailing
on the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign
currencies are translated at the exchange rates at the end of each
reporting period. Gains and losses resulting from this translation policy
are recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE BB IRR MR

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(b) Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(ii)

(i)

Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial statements
(Continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in foreign
currencies are translated using the exchange rates at the dates when
the fair values are determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in other
comprehensive income, any exchange component of that gain or loss
is recognised in other comprehensive income. When a gain or loss
on a non-monetary item is recognised in profit or loss, any exchange
component of that gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all the Group entities that have
a functional currency different from the Company’s presentation
currency are translated into the Company’s presentation currency as
follows:

—  Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position
presented are translated at the closing rate at the date of that
statement of financial position;

- Income and expenses are translated at average exchange
rates for the period (unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on
the transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are
translated at the exchange rates on the transaction dates); and

- All resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the foreign currency
translation reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of
monetary items that form part of the net investment in foreign entities
and of borrowings are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in the foreign currency translation reserve. When a
foreign operation is sold, such exchange differences are reclassified to
consolidated profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R BB IRAR MR

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, including buildings held for use in the
production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative purposes
(other than properties under construction as described below), are stated
in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost, less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses,
if any.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised
as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance
are recognised in profit or loss during the period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated at rates
sufficient to write off their cost less their residual values over the estimated
useful lives on a straight-line basis. The principal useful lives are as follows:

Buildings 20 years
Plant and machinery 10 years
Leasehold improvements 5 years
Motor vehicles 2 to 5 years
Office equipments and others 5 years

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed and
adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

Construction in progress represents buildings under construction and plant
and equipment pending installation, and is stated at cost less impairment
losses. Depreciation begins when the relevant assets are available for use.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment is the
difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
relevant asset, and is recognised in profit or loss.

Leases
(i) Operating leases - The Group as lessee

Leases that do not substantially transfer to the Group all the risks and
rewards of ownership of assets are accounted for as operating leases.
Lease payments (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Prepare land lease payments are stated at cost and subsequently
amortised on the straight-line basis over the remaining term of the
lease.

(i) Operating leases - The Group as lessor

Leases that do not substantially transfer to the lessees all the risks and
rewards of ownership of assets are accounted for as operating leases.
Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line
basis over the term of the relevant lease.

4.

(c)

(a)

For the year ended 31 December 2015
HZE2015F12A31 B LFE

BHBEE)

M3 BERRE

%  BERREREFEAREERERE
MRBISSAETRBE BT (Tt 2 &
BWMERI)  BREAHBARNEKA © UK
RRERZ AT ERE R RFTREBR(NE)
275 -

HARKAER B2 IR B A B AR RSB R g 7]
BEMAREE - Mz B KRR EFHE
B HRIANBEZREERERRBLERE
(AER) - B B fb M RRENEELEHRH
R AR °

W% - BERREZITETDREMEAIERS
HRIZ R DAR B EL AR AR R BR B (B HO L R A B 47
FrtE  RXERBERNT ¢

¥ 20%F
Wz &5t 104
HERE 54

P 2EE 54
WAEREREM 5%

FIEr(E TE A AFHRITETERNSRE D
TeiE TR RIELFE(NER)
ERIREEZBFREGLTENESE RR
B BRARBEBEAR - TERNEREE
AP AR RAIRET & ©

HEWE -« BFE RRENAEE L EMSHER
FREFHEERMEMERNEZRE  YNE

HE
() BEHE - KNEBERAEA

ﬁ?iﬁﬁ%ﬁ’)ﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁ&@iﬁjﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂ
DETAEENEEARRKELERE

TREFE (R B ﬁiﬁ)\”&(ﬁiﬂ’]&ﬁﬁﬁﬁ

SRINBHANANEREERRER -

TN A8 BRI AT AR - H&RE
R THHBARNABRERS -

(i) AEETHE — FREFIERLHAA

ﬁﬁiﬁﬁﬁémﬁﬁﬁlﬁﬁﬁ&@*ﬁjﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁ
DETABEANEEABRSKLEHRE
ﬁ%?‘ﬁ%ﬁ’ﬁﬁﬁﬂﬂz)\ﬁé*ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ%@WLAE
OB T ATER -

ANNUAL REPORT 2015 / CHINA GREENFRESH GROUP CO., LTD.

70



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE BB IRR MR

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(e)

(f)

(9)

(h)

Research and development expenditures

Expenditures on research activities is recognised as an expense in the
period in which it is incurred.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost
is determined using the weighted average basis. The cost of finished
goods and work in progress comprises raw materials, direct labour and an
appropriate proportion of all production overhead expenditure, and where
appropriate, subcontracting charges. Net realisable value is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

Mushrooms

The Group is involved in the agricultural activities of the transformation of
biological assets into agricultural produce. The mushrooms are measured
at fair value less costs to sell at initial recognition and at the end of each
reporting period. The fair value of the mushrooms under growing period
and harvest period are determined based on costs incurred to grow the
mushroom and the market approach respectively. Gain or loss on initial
recognition and from subsequent changes in fair value less costs to sell is
included in profit or loss for the period in which it arises.

The mushrooms are initially measured at their fair value less costs to sell at
the time of harvest. The fair value of the mushrooms is determined based on
market prices in the local area. Gain on initial recognition at fair value less
costs to sell is included in profit or loss for the period in which it arises.

The fair value less costs to sell at the time of harvest of the mushrooms
becomes their cost for the measurement of inventories. Such inventories
are subsequently stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Net
realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business less the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

Recognition and derecognition of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position when the Group becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to receive
cash flows from the assets expire; the Group transfers substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the assets; or the Group neither transfers
nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the assets
but has not retained control on the assets. On derecognition of a financial
asset, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of
the consideration received and the cumulative gain or loss that had been
recognised in other comprehensive income is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified in
the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or expires. The difference
between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the
consideration paid is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R BB IRAR MR

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(i)

)]

(k)

o

Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis
where the purchase or sale of an financial asset is under a contract whose
terms require delivery of the financial assets within the timeframe established
by the market concerned, and are initially measured at fair value, plus
directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following categories: loans
and receivables. The classification depends on the purpose for which the
financial assets were acquired. Management determines the classification of
its financial assets at initial recognition.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. These
assets are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method
(except for short-term receivables where interest is immaterial) minus
any reduction for impairment or uncollectibility. Typically trade and other
receivables, bank balances and cash are classified in this category.

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for merchandise sold
or services performed in the ordinary course of business. If collection of
trade and other receivables is expected in one year or less (or in the normal
operating cycle of the business if longer), they are classified as current
assets. If not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, less allowance for impairment.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents
represent cash at bank and on hand, demand deposits with banks and
other financial institutions, and short-term highly liquid investments which
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and subject to an
insignificant risk of change in value. Bank overdrafts which are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management are also
included as a component of cash and cash equivalents.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according to the
substance of the contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions
of a financial liability and an equity instrument under IFRSs. An equity
instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets
of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities. The accounting policies
adopted for specific financial liabilities and equity instruments are set out
below.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE BB IRR MR

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(m) Borrowings

(n)

(o)

(p)

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs
incurred, and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an
unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months
after the reporting period.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at their fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case
they are stated at cost.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or
receivable and is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits
will flow to the Group and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably.

Revenues from the sales of goods are recognised on the transfer of
significant risks and rewards of ownership, which generally coincides with

the time when the goods are delivered and the title has passed to the
customers.

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using the effective
interest method.

Rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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R BB IRAR MR

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(q) Employee benefits

(r)

(s)

() Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service leave are
recognised when they accrue to employees. A provision is made for the
estimated liability for annual leave and long service leave as a result of
services rendered by employees up to the end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are not
recognised until the time of leave.

(i) Pension obligations

The Group contributes to defined contribution retirement schemes
which are available to all employees. Contributions to the schemes
by the Group and employees are calculated as a percentage of
employees’ basic salaries. The retirement benefit scheme cost charged
to profit or loss represents contributions payable by the Group to the
funds.

(i)~ Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of the dates when the
Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits, and when
the Group recognises restructuring costs and involves the payment of
termination benefits.

Share-based payments

The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments to certain directors
and employees. Equity-settled share-based payments to directors and
employees are measured at the fair value (excluding the effect of non-market
based vesting conditions) of the equity instruments at the date of grant. The
fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based
payments is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based
on the Group’s estimate of shares that will eventually vest and adjusted for
the effect of non-market based vesting conditions.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
capitalised as part of the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets
are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income
earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs
eligible for capitalisation.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and used for the purpose
of obtaining a qualifying asset, the amount of borrowing costs eligible
for capitalisation is determined by applying a capitalisation rate to the
expenditures on that asset. The capitalisation rate is the weighted average
of the borrowing costs applicable to the borrowings of the Group that are
outstanding during the period, other than borrowings made specifically for
the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they are incurred.
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RE BB IRR MR

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(t)

(u)

Government grants

A government grant is recognised when there is reasonable assurance that
the Group will comply with the conditions attaching to it and that the grant
will be received.

Government grants relating to income are deferred and recognised in profit
or loss over the period to match them with the costs they are intended to
compensate.

Government grants that become receivable as compensation for expenses
or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate financial
support to the Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they become receivable.

Taxation
Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable
profit differs from profit recognised in profit or loss because of items of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items
that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred
tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences
and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary
differences, unused tax losses or unused tax credits can be utilised. Such
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences
arising on investments in subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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R BB IRAR MR

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(u) Taxation (Continued)

(v)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each
reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that
sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the
period when the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period. Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it relates
to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
in which case the deferred tax is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities
and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority
and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net
basis.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of non-financial assets are reviewed at each reporting
date for indications of impairment and where an asset is impaired, it is
written down as an expense through the consolidated statement of profit
or loss to its estimated recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate
cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or
groups of assets. If this is the case, recoverable amount is determined for
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Recoverable amount
is the higher of value in use and the fair value less costs of disposal of the
individual asset or the cash-generating unit.

Value in use is the present value of the estimated future cash flows of the
asset/cash-generating unit. Present values are computed using pre-tax
discount rates that reflect the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset/cash-generating unit whose impairment is being measured.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(v)

(w)

Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

Impairment losses for cash-generating units are allocated first against the
goodwill of the unit and then pro rata amongst the other assets of the cash-
generating unit. Subsequent increases in the recoverable amount caused
by changes in estimates are credited to profit or loss to the extent that they
reverse the impairment.

Impairment of financial assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group assesses whether its financial
assets (other than those at fair value through profit or loss) are impaired,
based on objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that
occurred after the initial recognition, the estimated future cash flows of the
(group of) financial asset(s) have been affected.

For trade receivables that are assessed not to be impaired individually, the
Group assesses them collectively for impairment, based on the Group's past
experience of collecting payments, an increase in the delayed payments in
the portfolio, observable changes in economic conditions that correlate with
default on receivables, etc.

Only for trade receivables, the carrying amount is reduced through the use
of an allowance account and subsequent recoveries of amounts previously
written off are credited against the allowance account. Changes in the
carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised in profit or loss.

For all other financial assets, the carrying amount is directly reduced by the
impairment loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if the amount of the
impairment loss decreases in a subsequent period and the decrease can
be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was
recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed (either
directly or by adjusting the allowance account for trade receivables) through
profit or loss. However, the reversal must not result in a carrying amount that
exceeds what the amortised cost of the financial asset would have been had
the impairment not been recognised at the date the impairment is reversed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R BB IRAR MR

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(x)

(v)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or amount when
the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation arising as a result
of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where
the time value of money is material, provisions are stated at the present
value of the expenditures expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is
disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by
the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events are also
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow is remote.

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional information about
the Group’s position at the end of the reporting period are adjusting events
and are reflected in the consolidated financial statements. Events after the
reporting period that are not adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to
the consolidated financial statements when material.

KEY ESTIMATES

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation
uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are discussed below.

(a)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

The Group determines the estimated useful lives, residual values and related
depreciation charges for the Group’s property, plant and equipment. This
estimate is based on the historical experience of the actual useful lives
and residual values of property, plant and equipment of similar nature and
functions. The Group will revise the depreciation charge where useful lives
and residual values are different to those previously estimated, or it will
write-off or write-down technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that
have been abandoned.

The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment as at 31 December
2015 was RMB161,802,000 (2014: RMB151,441,000).
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5. KEY ESTIMATES (Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Fair values of biological assets

The Group appointed an independent professional valuer to assess the fair
values of the biological assets. In determining the fair values, the valuer
has utilised a method of valuation which involves certain estimates. The
directors have exercised their judgement and are satisfied that the method
of valuation and input used are reflective of the current market conditions.

The carrying amount of biological assets as at 31 December 2015 was
RMB53,102,000 (2014: RMB93,707,000).

Impairment loss for bad and doubtful debts

The Group makes impairment loss for bad and doubtful debts based
on assessments of the recoverability of the trade and other receivables,
including the current creditworthiness and the past collection history of each
debtor.

Impairments arise where events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the balances may not be collectible. The identification of bad and doubtful
debts, in particular of a loss event, requires the use of judgement and
estimates. Where the actual result is different from the original estimate,
such difference will impact the carrying value of the trade and other
receivables and doubtful debt expenses in the year in which such estimate
has been changed.

As at 31 December 2015, impairment loss for bad and doubtful debts
amounted to RMB Nil (2014: RMB Nil).

Allowance for slow-moving inventories

Allowance for slow-moving inventories is made based on the ageing
and estimated net realisable value of inventories. The assessment of the
allowance amount involves judgement and estimates. Where the actual
outcome in future is different from the original estimate, such difference will
impact the carrying value of inventories and allowance charge/write-back
in the period in which such estimate has been changed. No allowance for
slow-moving inventories was made for the year ended 31 December 2015
(2014: RMB Nil).
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For the year ended 31 December 2015
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R BB IRAR MR

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: foreign currency
risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk. The Group’s overall risk
management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and
seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

(a)

(b)

Foreign currency risk

The Group has minimal exposure to foreign currency risk as most of its
business transactions, assets and liabilities are principally denominated in
the functional currencies of the Group entities, Hong Kong dollars (‘HK$”),
United States dollars (“US$”) and RMB. The Group currently does not have
a foreign currency hedging policy in respect of foreign currency transactions,
assets and liabilities. The Group monitor its foreign currency exposure
closely and will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure
should the need arise.

At 31 December 2015, if the HK$ had weakened 1 per cent against RMB
with all other variables held constant, consolidated profit after tax for the
year would have been approximately RMB221,000 (2014: RMB4,000)
lower, arising mainly as a result of the foreign exchange loss on bank and
cash denominated in HK$. If the HK$ had strengthened 1 per cent against
RMB with all other variables held constant, consolidated profit after tax for
the year would have been approximately RMB221,000 (2014: RMB4,000)
higher, arising mainly as a result of the foreign exchange gain on bank and
cash denominated in HK$.

At 31 December 2015, if the US$ had weakened 1 per cent against RMB
with all other variables held constant, consolidated profit after tax for the
year would have been approximately RMB372,000 (2014: RMB12,000)
lower, arising mainly as a result of the foreign exchange loss on bank and
cash, trade receivables and trade payables denominated in US$. If the
US$ had strengthened 1 per cent against RMB with all other variables
held constant, consolidated profit after tax for the year would have been
approximately RMB372,000 (2014: RMB12,000) higher, arising mainly as a
result of the foreign exchange gain on bank and cash, trade receivables and
trade payables denominated in US$.

Credit risk

The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk.

It has policies in place to ensure that sales are made to customers with an
appropriate credit history.

The credit risk on cash and bank balances is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit-ratings assigned by international
credit-rating agencies.

For the year ended 31 December 2015
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For the year ended 31 December 2015
BZE2015F12A31BILFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 6. UBERERE(E)
(c) Liquidity risk (c) RBESER

(d)

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and expected liquidity
requirements to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet
its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

The maturity analysis based on contractual undiscounted cash flows of the
Group’s financial liabilities is as follows:

At 31 December 2015
Trade payables
Accruals and other payables

Bank loan

At 31 December 2014
Trade payables
Accruals and other payables

Bank loan

Interest rate risk

Less than Between
1year 1and2years
DIEF 1226
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TT ARETT

M2015512A31H

B 5 e IE 41,278 -

FEST 2 A R EH Ath
e RIE 17,483 -
RITER 10,136 -
68,897 -

M2014F12A831H

B 5 N8 16,480 =
FET B KM
FEFFRIB 19,844 =
RITER 18,029 =
54,353 =
(d)

The Group’s exposure to interest-rate risk arises from its bank deposits.
These deposits bear interests at variable rates varied with the then prevailing

market condition.

The Group’s bank borrowing and certain of the Group’s bank deposits bear
interest at fixed rate and therefore is subject to fair value interest rate risk.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015
HBE2015F12A31BIEFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 6. FBEMREREE)
(d) Interest rate risk (Continued) (d) FIZ=mps(4E)

(e)

(f)

At 31 December 2015, it is estimated that a general increase/decrease
of 10 basis points in interest rates, with all other variables held constant,
would have increased/(decreased) the Group’s profit after tax for the year as
follows:

Increase/(decrease) in interest rates =, CRd)
10 basis points 10fE E2h
(10) basis points (10)EEZ,

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the impact on the Group’s profit for
the year and retained profits that would have arisen assuming that there is an
annualised impact on interest income and expense by a change in interest
rates. The analysis has been performed on the same basis thorough for the
years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014.

Categories of financial instruments (e)
Financial assets: %Eﬂﬁ? :
Loans and receivables BRRERFE(BERER
(including cash and cash equivalents) BHEEEY)
Financial liabilities: eREE:
Financial liabilities at amortised cost REERA RN SR AE
Fair values (f)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities
as reflected in the consolidated statement of financial position approximate
their respective fair values.

R20155F12 A31 8 » IFTHA HAfh o] & K =4
B  HatHEEAE LA TR10EE
25 AEENFEAREBFEBE M CRd )
T

2015 2014
20154 20144
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBFT ARETT
764 252

(764) (252)

R SRR DA AR AR A R B & 4 A B

ARRXEEFRE  MEEFHARHAS
BENRHRREBENEENTZE - ZAMK

HZE2015%F K% 2014F12 A31 H ILFE LR
BT o

R T E&ER
2015 2014
20154 20144
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETT
1,145,684 410,732
68,761 54,324
ARE
rEESREERS A BREREVIEIRRE
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For the year ended 31 December 2015
BZE2015F12A31BILFE

7. REVENUE 7. gk

The Group’s revenue which represents sales of goods to customers are as AEBENREAEEERTERNOT ¢

follows:

2015 2014
2015%F 20144
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBT T
King trumpet mushroom BEpTE 296,873 199,272
Button mushroom and straw mushroom BELE N B4k 243,199 175,860
Canned food HER R 99,617 124,690
Other processed food products HEMinIRMA 45,538 45,843
Trading of food RmE5S 76,891 -
762,118 545,665

8. OTHER INCOME 8. HfigA
2015 2014
2015%F 20144
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBT T
Exchange gain & 5 W as 11,351 =
Government subsidies and awards (note) BT i B B 828 (B =E) 4,026 3,170
Input value-added tax deduction 3 OB {E R FOR 1,375 4,705
Bank interest income RITH S MA 7,255 1,818
Rental income A A 47 82
Scrap sales EERIEE 323 170
Others Hith 8 2
24,385 9,947

M BURHEE) R REE RN E BT BRI A E
o SE TS B IR M4 B R MR 2K 0 B KRV #E B ©

Note: Government subsidies and awards mainly related to the subsidy received from the local
government authority to support the local business development and subsidy received
from the agricultural project.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group has five reportable segments for the year and has four reportable

segments in 2014 as follows:

King trumpet mushroom
Button mushroom and
straw mushroom

- Planting of king trumpet mushroom
— Planting of button mushroom and straw
mushroom

Canned food — Manufacturing and trading of canned food
Other processed food — Manufacturing and trading of other
products processed food products such as brined

mushroom, preserved vegetables, snacks
and dried mushroom

— Trading of edible fungi, fresh food,
vegetables, canned food, frozen food,
etc.

Trading of food

The Group’s reportable segments are strategic business units that offer different
products and services. They are managed separately because each business
requires different technology and marketing strategies.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are same as those described
in note 4 to the consolidated financial statements. Segment profits or losses do
not include unallocated business tax and auxiliary charges, selling expenses,
administrative expenses, other income, finance costs and income tax expense.
Segment assets include trade receivables, inventories and biological assets.

The Group accounts for intersegment sales and transfers as if the sales or
transfers were to third parties, i.e. at current market prices.

For the year ended 31 December 2015
HZE2015F12A31 B LFE

BEFR

W

FAREEA AERZ2FHH MM 20144 8 H rU{E
=

AE2WRAELT

AETE - EEAMLE

BIERERE - BEEEREL

AR M - EERBEERRD

Hip i TR & - FERBEBEEMINTRG -
PlangEKEE - EEEK -
INDIERYER

RmES - BEERAR  #HWARM -
HH - BEEARM 2R
RmE

AEBMEA] 28 E T AR E TR E @ MR HI R
BEIESETSEAL o i & E RN RRM &5
EEREE - WEEHDMIARIERE -

KEDHH SR BRES S MBS MKRM T4 E
HE - DERETBERDENEEHR S RHM
HEMX - THAX - MR - BBRARAE
BHAX - DHEEREREZEEFIR FEREY

AEEE D A FEHE RBRGERFE =T ETHE
SREEEEIE - BIAE AT (BT o
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9.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Information about reportable segment profit or loss, assets and

liabilities:

Year ended 31 December 2015
Revenue from external customers
Intersegment revenue

Segment profit

Other material items of income
and expense:

Income tax expense
As at 31 December 2015

Segment assets

Year ended 31 December 2014
Revenue from external customers
Intersegment revenue

Segment profit

Other material items of income
and expense:

Income tax expense
As at 31 December 2014

Segment assets

King trumpet
mushroom
hing
RMB'000
ARETT
HZE2015F12831ALEE
RESMPEF HE 296,873
GG 18,957
kel 128,866
HtEAMARXHIER
FREREX -
720154128318
HHEE 12,344
HE2014F12A31 BLLEE
REINERE Pz
AHERE
A
Hiy ERRA R HER
FTisBiF
720145127310
PEEE
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Button
mushroom
and straw
mushroom
BRERER
RMB’000

ARBTR

243,199

19,342

134,263

40,915

King trumpet
mushroom
By ke
RMB’000
ARBTT

199,272

40,116

79,848

12,633

Canned
food
BERM
RMB’000
ARET T

99,617

20,765

2,125

15,637

Button
mushroom
and straw
mushroom
EERER
RMB’000
ARBTT

175,860

39,885

96,509

82,278

For the year ended 31 December 2015
BZE2015F12A31BILFE

Other
processed
food products
HttmIRS
RMB’000
ARETT

45,538

5,291

Canned
food
EERM
RMB’000
AREFT

124,690

4,826

22,222

2,252

13,698

CEERBENER

Trading

of food
RmE

RMB’000

AREFT

76,891

4,320

580

70,510

Other
processed
food products
H IR
RMB’000
AREFT

45,843

20,791

4,605

1,930

Total

@t
RMB’000
AREFT

762,118

38,299

293,505

2,705

139,406

Total

@3t
RMB’000
ARBFT

545,665

105,618

203,184

2,252

110,339



SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R BB IRAR MR

Reconciliations of reportable segment revenue, profit or loss and assets:

Revenue
Total revenue of reportable segments
Elimination of intersegment revenue

Consolidated revenue

Profit or loss

Total profit or loss of reportable segments

Elimination of intersegment profits

Change in profit or loss from change in fair value of
biological assets

Listing expenses

Depreciation

Amortisation of prepaid land lease payments

Unallocated amounts

Consolidated profit for the year

Assets
Total assets of reportable segments
Unallocated amounts
— Property, plant and equipment
— Prepaid land lease payments
— Bank and cash balances
— Others

Consolidated total assets

B

Al 2w HR B A
85 5 BB
EMEEARBEEESE
EWRAX

e

TBAF 4 3th 70 & TR 8

R BEFRIE

FRER B

BE
AI2MDANEEE
ROBEH
W% BERRE
— R L EE R
—RITRBREH
—Hfl

For the year ended 31 December 2015
HBE2015F12A31BIEFE

T2/ IS - R REEOYIE -

2015 2014
20154 20144
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETT
800,417 651,283
(38,299) (105,618)
762,118 545,665
293,505 203,184
(17,038) (5,002)
(15,355) 8,516
(7,193) (11,619)
(9,639) (9,153)
(761) (748)
(25,787) (10,090)
217,732 175,088
139,406 110,339
161,802 151,441
36,858 35,270
1,014,346 336,519
170,697 179,743
1,523,109 813,312
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For the year ended 31 December 2015
BZE2015F12A31BILFE

9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 9. FEER(E)
2015 2014
2015%F 20144
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥F T ARETT
Geographical information: EER :
Revenue Wz
PRC =
— Eastern China — R 426,559 326,178
- Southern China — %/ 52,648 53,315
— Northern China — 19,775 11,293
— Central China — 94,806 27,686
— North Eastern China — BRI 24,617 36,689
- South Western China — "B 70,000 77,760
- North Western China — R E Pt - 9,757
Malaysia BREDR 39,385 -
Philippines JERE 19,692 -
Indonesia ElfE 3,236 -
Singapore AN 2,076 -
United Kingdom HE 2,042 -
Nigeria fEé B #ge 1,527 -
United States of America ESES 363 2,987
Others Hih 5,392 -
Consolidated total RE AT 762,118 545,665
In presenting the geographical information, revenue is based on the shipment RETHEE R - W THBERMAER AEl S -
destination so that the economic environments, in which the goods are shipped, A L& FTSHE E G B A A AU IR IR o
can be evaluated.
All non-current assets of the Group are located in the PRC. NEBEFRBIERBDEEMNFHE -
During the year, there was no individual customer with revenue from each of them RER - WEERIEFEHE 8 Wt E BN
accounted for 10% or more of the Group’s total external revenue (2014: Nil). TABREAI10% K A (20144 - #&)
10. FINANCE COSTS 10. BARERAR
2015 2014
20159 20144
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETT
Interest on bank borrowing RITREFRFI S 615 1,194
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11.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Current tax - PRC
Provision for the year
Underprovision for prior year

BIEATIR —
FRREE
EFRBEHTR

BNEATIIR — &
FRER

Current tax — Hong Kong
Provision for the year

Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided at 16.5% based on the assessable
profit for the year less allowable losses brought forward. No provision for Hong
Kong Profits Tax is required since the Group has no assessable profit for the year
ended 31 December 2014.

PRC Enterprise Income Tax has been provided at a rate of 25% (2014: 25%).

Tax charge on profits assessable elsewhere has been calculated at the rates of
tax prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates, based on existing
legislation, interpretation and practices in respect thereof.

Under the Law of PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law”) and
Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is
25% from 1 January 2008 onwards except as described below.

According to the EIT Law, income derived from primary processing of agricultural
produce is exempt from the PRC Enterprise Income Tax. The production and
trading of mushroom of certain of the subsidiaries are recognised as primary
processing of agricultural produce under the EIT Law and therefore are exempt
from the PRC Enterprise Income Tax commenced from 1 January 2008. The
following subsidiaries are recognised as primary processing of agricultural
produce which obtained the exemption from the PRC Enterprise Income Tax:

For the year ended 31 December 2015
HZE2015F12A31 B LFE

1. FIEHRX

2015 2014
20154 20144
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBT T
1,802 2,252

323 -

580 -

2,705 2,252

B SIS B T 1R 78 F &l 51 FE R B A sk & Al o]
B EIBA6.5% M EFTHE - BRAEEREE
2014F 12 A31HILFEMERRE RS - thEa
BB ERRRE -

R EFTSHE 1225% (20144 © 25%) HITE K&t
o

H ot 2 fE R B a AR IR iR B L8
PERZNREED  2EREPIRAERITHEG

s
& o
>

BIEPBECEMERE([LEMERE]) REEM
EEHEIED] 0 8200851 A18#E - FEMBA
AIB R E25% + Tt EBRIN o

BREBELEMEIE - FABRERYMIEBHKRA
BEREEEMEH - ETHEBRRNEREER
BEEBNACEMSIET RERTIINITE
HAHE20084F 1 A1 B LR B AT BB EMSH
ATHBARMNERERNMTER - BHRLHM
R EMSH
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11.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)
Year ended 31 December 2014 and 2015

FEEERECEMN)BRAR
(Greenfresh Ecological Agriculture (Zhangzhou) Company Limited)
("Greenfresh Ecological Agriculture")

BEEGRBENMRMARRAR]
(Liaoning Greenfresh Biological Technology Company Limited)
("Greenfresh Biological Technology")

BINEREERBEARAA
(Zhangzhou Shengtai Agricultural Development Company Limited)
("Shengtai Agricultural Development")

EINEARMARAR
(Zhangzhou Jingxiang Foods Company Limited)
("Jingxiang Foods")

B (BE)EMRIBRBRAR
(Greenfresh (Nanchang) Biological Technology Limited)
("Greenfresh Nanchang")

The reconciliation between the income tax expense and the product of profit
before tax multiplied by the PRC Enterprise Income Tax rate is as follows:

11.

Profit before tax

Tax at the domestic income tax rate of 25%

Tax effect of income that is not taxable

Tax effect of expenses that are not deductible
Tax effect of temporary difference not recognised
Tax effect of tax concession

Tax effect of tax loss not recognised

Tax effect of tax rate in different jurisdictions

Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses not
previously recognised

Underprovision in prior year

(Under)/Overprovision of current year

Income tax expense

75t i 71

REMFTSHIE26%t HHTIH
BARHBARTTE &
TR LB ISE
AERERE ZHEORGZE
PHEBENHREZE
AERBRBABRORBFE
R B I 5 2R 2 B P A K
ZRIGRE
B RIBEARERTIAR R
B &
EFEBEETE
BHIFE (BET R ) /B

PSR

Pursuant to the EIT Law, the subsidiaries incorporated in the PRC is required to
withhold 10% PRC enterprise income tax when it distributes dividends to its non-
PRC resident enterprise shareholders. According to the tax treaty between Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region and PRC for avoidance of double taxation
and prevention of tax evasion, dividends declared from PRC subsidiaries to
Hong Kong holding companies are subject to 5% withholding income tax from
1 January 2008 and onwards. At the end of the reporting period, the temporary
differences associated with undistributed earnings of subsidiaries for which
deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised is approximately RMB39,879,000
(2014: RMB27,509,000). No liability has been recognised in respect of these
differences because the Group is in a position to control the timing of reversal of
the temporary differences and it is probable that such differences will not reverse
in the foreseeable future.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015
BZE2015F12A31BILFE

FRiERiRx (&)
HZE20145 K% 2015512831 B IEFE

HRELERREECEMN)ERAR
FEEREX])

BEGBEEYRMERAT
(MArE B )

BMBREXEREARAA
(IBFRZEMAE])

BMSARMERAT
(T=ARM!)

SE(EE)EMMEERAR
(MrEmal)

FT 15 7t B 2 BB A5t A i FIU 3R A R B D S PR 1S B 26 P
SHOSBRANT -

2015 2014
20154 20144
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETT
220,437 177,340
55,109 44,335
(1,544) (568)
6,651 3,422

- 633
(57,518) (45,771)
631 74
(298) -
(75) (8)
323 -
(574) 135
2,705 2,252

BB EERE - R B M A E A R M
FPEERAERRREREE  ERINKEH10%
HEMEH - REEBRAITREEGER B S
SHB R ILRFROB B HE - PEKNBERRR
ERERAREIRAKRE B20084F1 A 18 kA%
BRIORBERHFTER o IREHKR - EHBERAF]
MADRBANEEMI AERECHBEEENT
=240 B AR %39,879,0007T (201445 : AR
27,509,0007T) ° WER I E=BRIATMEE -
TR A 7R 55 [ B S 4 o6 B s A= RE MO TR I B RS - Tt
ST EBRAETSHRA R B REE -



12. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R BB IRAR MR

12.

The Group’s profit for the year is stated after charging the following:

Amortisation of prepaid land lease payments
Depreciation
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Operating lease charges
— Land and buildings
— Minimum lease payments
- Contingent rent
— Others
— Minimum lease payments
Research and development expenditure
Auditor’s remuneration
Listing expenses
Cost of inventories sold
Changes in fair value of biological assets
less cost to sell
- realised
— unrealised

TR £t A0 Bk 3
e
HEWE  BERRBZER
KEHEM
— T RET
—BIEBE K
—HAEE
—Hfts
—BIEBE K
[iE:{aiba
ZER B
EWRX
BEHEFEKA

Cost of inventories sold includes staff costs, depreciation and operating lease
charges of approximately RMB31,578,000, RMB7,130,000 and RMB17,987,000
respectively, (2014: RMB34,349,000, RMB7,172,000, and RMB21,368,000)
which are included in the amounts disclosed separately above.

For the year ended 31 December 2015
HBE2015F12A31BIEFE

FRRA

AEBEFAENS NG TFIEE -

2015 2014
20154 20144
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETT
761 748
9,639 9,153

33 17
14,292 19,561

5 15

2,474 3,010
926 422

850 1,986
7,193 11,619
747,722 550,393
232,325 181,706
14,391 29,416

EHEFEXRAREEIRA ERKERE
X 28458 AR31,578,0007T + AR
7,130,0007T & A R #17,987,0007T (20144 = A
R#34,349,0007T * AR#7,172,0007T & A R#
21,368,0007T) * HEFTA LX A RIEBEHN S
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o A & =
:%'I;R (=] /szti%#&%% Mr.l--l;I For the year ended 31 December 2015
BZE2015F12A31BILFE

13. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE 13. EEEFEA
2015 2014
20155 20144
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFT ARETT
Employee benefits expense: EBEBNER :
— Salaries, bonus and allowances s TEAT Ko RE 35,295 35,425
- Equity-settled share-based payments EHE RGN RER 2 31,801 -
— Retirement benefit scheme contribution —RIREFET B 5,997 5,657
73,093 41,082
Five highest paid individuals EERSHFMAL
The five highest paid individuals in the Group during the year included 3 (2014: 1) REXN  AEBRAERETMA T BE3H (2014
directors whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented in note 14. FAR)EF  MZIEFZHMERWF142H8
The emoluments of the remaining 2 (2014: 4) individuals are set out below: AT R - H#7257 (20145 : 48) AL Z2Bl& a0
TR
2015 2014
20154 20144
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETT
Basic salaries and allowances B & ROERL 188 186
Discretionary bonus BB IEAL 8 601
Equity-settled share-based payments LA A E D BEM 2 AR 3,181 -
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RIREFET B 1 20
3,388 807
The emoluments fell within the following band: SRR TR
2015 2014
20155 20144
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETT
Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 (approximately RMB813,000) Z31,000,00037% (41 A £ #813,0007T) - 5
HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,000,00177C£2,000,00075 7
(approximately RMB813,000 to RMB1,626,000) (W ARHS13,000TEARHE1,626,0007T) 1 =
HK$2,000,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,000,001/ 75 23,000,000 70
(approximately RMB1,626,000 to RMB2,439,000) () AR #1,626,0002 AR H2,439,0007T) 3 -
HK$3,000,001 to HK$5,000,000 3,000,001/ 7L 25,000,000/ 7
(approximately RMB2,439,000 to RMB4,065,000) (I NR¥2,439,00070 2 A K #4,065,0007T) 1 -
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N AL =+ >
'%";R H ’E‘Zl-i%#ﬁﬂj’é Mr‘l-E For the year ended 31 December 2015

HZE2015F12A31BILFE

14. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 14. EETEANRER
(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) E=B<
The remuneration of every director is set out below: ZEZSZMES TR :

Emoluments
paid or
receivable
Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person's services as a director, whether of inrespect
the Company or its subsidiary undertaking sl
REABR(FREXDAZENEAR ESRHCHHRUZHE .
Remunerations in connection
paid or with the
(Note (i)) receivable management
Estimated Employer's in respect of the affairs of
money  contribution  of accepting the Company
Discretionary value of  to a retirement office Housing  or its subsidiary
Fees Salaries bonus  other benefits  benefit scheme as director allowance  undertaking Total
f £33
L
R HKBLF
(W)  EEHEK  ZEARES SRNELERE
AfeAlz iy o Bffdl BHAER
He #e ML fERERE  REzER FUME (ERE M &t

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
ARRTR  ARBTR  ARBTR  ARRTR  ARRTR  ARBTR  ARBTR  ARBTR  ARRTR

Executive directors
- Zheng Songhui - 292 - 2,546 6 - - - 2,844
- Zheng Tianming - 9% 8 1,910 6 - - - 2,018
- Zheng Ruyan - 215 - 1,910 8 - - - 2,193
Non-execuive director: FuES:
- Zhang Lin ~FH - - - - - - - - -
Independent non-executive directors: BUNTES
- Mek Hing Keung, Thomas -RER
(appointed on 27 May 2015) (Mo0t5%5 27 RIER(E) 4 - - - - - - - a2
- Lou Robert Hsiu-sung -BA%
(appointed on 27 May 2015) (R201555R27ARES) L) - - - - - - - 42
- Cheng Hiu Yung -8%E
(appointed on 27 May 2015) (R201555 A2 BRZHE) I/ - - - - - - - @
Total for 2015 0155 285 126 661 8 6,366 20 - - - 7,181
Certain comparative information of directors’ emoluments for the year HE2014F12A31BILFE - EHEEZ=HE
ended 31 December 2014 disclosed in accordance with the predecessor ZETHEERTDREBEAMESCRRHEGIN(E
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 32) have been restated in order to R2E)HKE - REREINBACARUERIN(E
comply with the scope and requirements of the new Hong Kong Companies 622%F ) 2 #E K FKET o

Ordinance (Cap.622).
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For the year ended 31 December 2015
HZE2015F12A31 B L FE

14. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS (Continued) 14. EETEARER(

(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued) (a) E=Be (&

Emoluments
paid or
receivable
Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person's services as a director, whether of in respect
the Company or its subsidiary undertaking i
AEARE(FRARATSANEAR ESBHE oAz Me -
Remunerations in connection
paid or with the
(Note (i) receivable management
Estimated Employer's in respect of the affairs of
money contribution of accepting the Company
Discretionary value of  toaretirement office Housing  orits subsidiary
Fees Salaries bonus  other benefits  benefit scheme as director allowance undertaking Total
3]
HERX EHEAR
) EERER  ZERES SHME MR
i Rl Bffg BffEN
#e #e M EReEE  fRHZHR [k fiREH pd 3t

RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RVB000 RVB000 RMB000 RMB000
ARMTR  ARMTR  ARMTR  ARMTR  ARMTR  ARMTR  ARMTR ARMTR ARETR

Directors
- Zheng Songhui = 187 11 = 5 - - - 153
- Zheng Tianming - 106 8 - 5 - - = 19
- Zheng Ruyan = 161 16 = 8 - - - 185
- Zhang Lin o - - - - - - - -
- Li Yu (resigned on 26 November 2014) -ZE(R2014511 B26BB(E) - 20 - - - = = = 20
Total for 2014 0145 2 3t - 424 3% - 18 - - - 4
Neither the chief executive nor any of the directors waived any emoluments RENR - HIEFBITHA S REEWETAE
during the year (2014: RMB Nil). £(2014%F : ARBEZ L) ©
Note: BT
(i) Estimated money values of other benefits include share options. (i) HiEHz st R EBERIEERE -
(b) Directors’ material interests in transactions, arrangements or (b) EERXSZ » THHENPMERERS
contracts
No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation to the PERSFANN TSR - AEBMEGHEE
Group’s business to which the Company was a party and in which a director BN EAATESNES 2 @EH HENE
of the Company and the director’s connected party had a material interest, BREEAES I EEL S  THSAW -

whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year.
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15.

16.

DIVIDENDS

Subsequent to the end of the year, final dividend in respect of the year ended 31
December 2015 of HK20.00 cents (equivalent to approximately RMB17.00 cents)
(2014: Nil) per ordinary share has been proposed by the Directors and is subject
to approval by the shareholders of the Company at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company.

EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic earnings per share attributable to owners of the Company
is based on the profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company of
approximately RMB217,732,000 (2014: RMB175,088,000) for the year and the
weighted average number of ordinary shares of 442,808,219 in issue during the
year (2014: 375,000,000).

The calculation of diluted earnings per share attributable to owners of the
Company for the year, is based on the profit for the year attributable to owners
of the Company of approximately RMB217,732,000 (2014: RMB175,088,000)
and the weighted average number of ordinary shares of 442,808,219 (2014:
375,000,000) in issue during the year, plus the effect of dilutive potential ordinary
shares arising from share options issued by the Company during the year of
1,177,304 (2014: Nil), arrived at the weighted average number of ordinary shares
for the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per share of ordinary shares of
443,985,523 (2014: 375,000,000).

15.

16.

For the year ended 31 December 2015
HZE2015F12A31 B LFE

[g=\

RERE  EEREAREE2015F12A31B LT
SR 3 R B A% B B AR 3 A% 20,008 (L (SR A
R#17.009 ) (20144 : &) - HEESFAABIRER
RARREEAFAG LA o

BRER

RAREEABREERERBAIREFALA
AR ABEEF RGO ARB217,732,000 T
(20144 : AR¥175,088,0007T) @ A & IZ4EFE
FRE 7L BRI T 15 80442,808,219 A%
(20144 : 375,000,0008%) 5+ & o

RATEE ABIEEREERATIREBENE AR
NEIHEB AR FE R KA REE217,732,0007T
(20144 : AR¥175,088,0007T) * A R IRZ 48 &
FRE T E B INE T 15 20442,808,219 %
(20144 : 375,000,000/% )5+ & * M EARARIRE
REE1T1,177,30410 (20144 « &) BEREE A+ B #
SEREZBELBRZVE  ERLBRAOMNET
B EUAFTH443,985,623(20144F :375,000,000) f%
TEB BREERT -
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For the year ended 31 December 2015
BZE2015F12A31BILFE

W - BERRE

Office
Motor equipment  Construction

vehicles and others in progress Total
AE REf ERIE Eh
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETFT ARETT
2,413 3,062 37,481 175,276

2 326 19,696 20,723
- 55 (10,217) -
- - - (109)

2,415 3,443 46,960 195,890
167 290 25,684 30,704
305 925 (26,723) -
(265) (173) = (17,595)
2,622 4,485 45,921 208,999
760 1,874 - 35,363

419 411 - 9,153
- - - (67)

1,179 2,285 - 44,449
366 555 - 9,639
(139) (134) = (6,891)
1,406 2,706 - 47,197
1,216 1,779 45,921 161,802
1,236 1,158 46,960 151,441

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17.
Plant and Leasehold
Buildings machinery improvements
BT ETE HELE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT AREFT
Cost BA
At 1 January 2014 #201451 18 89,066 39,953 3,301
Additions RE = 699 -
Transfer 33 10,067 95 -
Disposals HE = (109) -
At 31 December 2014 and R2014512A318 Rk
1 January 2015 20151410 99,133 40,638 3,301
Additions N1 - 4,434 129
Transfer B 12,089 13,398 6
Disposals HE (11,587) (5,570) -
At 31 December 2015 M2015%12A318 99,635 52,900 3,436
Accumulated depreciation 2E
At 1 January 2014 "201451A18 15,745 15,012 1,972
Charge for the year FERFHR 4,033 3,625 665
Disposals HE - 67) =
At 31 December 2014 R2014512A318 Rk
and 1 January 2015 201561418 19,778 18,570 2,637
Charge for the year FREHR 4,352 3,689 677
Disposals HE (3,663) (2,955) -
At 31 December 2015 ®2015%12A318 20,467 19,304 3,314
Carrying amount EHE
At 31 December 2015 12015512 A31A 79,168 33,596 122
At 31 December 2014 2014512 A31H 79,355 22,068 664
At 31 December 2015, the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment
pledged as security for the Group’s bank loan amounted to approximately
RMB2,738,000 (2014: RMB Nil).
Certain buildings constructed on the leased land for which the Group had not
applied for the property ownership certificate amounted to RMB1,143,000, as
at 31 December 2015 (2014: RMB1,309,000). Such leased land are used by the
Group for production of canned food and other processed food.
2015 F3 / PR BEEEFR AR
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For the year ended 31 December 2015
HZE2015F12A31 B LFE

18. PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS 18. [ LHAER
2015 2014
2015%F 20144
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREBT T
At 1 January »R1A18 35,270 36,018
Addition for the year FRARE 2,349 =
Amortisation of prepaid land lease payments TS+ 1070 & R 55 (761) (748)
At 31 December ®12H31H 36,858 35,270
The Group’s prepaid land lease payments represent payments for land use rights AREFBHEM T HAERENTHRBRIETEHREE
in the PRC under medium term leases. AT EY R AR FRIA o
19. OTHER ASSETS 19. Hth&E
Other assets of the Group represented the rental prepaid for a piece of land on REBHHE M EEEN2008FE12 51 Bt —g b
1 December 2008 of 50 years for mushroom plantation purposes. FERMEE - AEI50F - AEEEEE -
20. INVENTORIES 20. #&
2015 2014
20159 20144
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETT
Raw materials A 3,021 8,213
Work in progress T8 13,320 14,389
Finished goods ERK 2,658 1,157
18,999 23,759
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BIOLOGICAL ASSETS

The Group is engaged in mushroom plantation for supply to customers.

21.

For the year ended 31 December 2015
BZE2015F12A31BILFE

EWE

mt

REBNEHEREE AR TP HE -

Reconciliation of carrying amount of mushroom: ERMBREESRANT
2015 2014
20155 20144
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARETT
At 1 January »A1H 93,707 91,949
Increases due to plantation ESEER =Rl 203,324 225,134
Gain from changes in fair value less cost to sell AR EZERIHE R ANFTE &£ 2 e 246,716 211,122
Decreases due to harvest B ER M o (490,645) (434,498)
At 31 December »m12A31H 53,102 93,707

Gain from changes in fair value less cost to sell included those biological assets
sold during the year (realised) and those biological assets not yet sold as at the
end of the year (unrealised).

Biological assets were mushroom and were stated at fair value less cost to sell as
at the end of the year. The fair value was determined by the professional valuer,
Jones Lang LaSalle Corporate Appraisal and Advisory Limited with reference to
market-determined prices, cultivation areas, species, growing conditions, cost
incurred and expected yield of crops.

Market and cost approaches are adopted to value the agricultural produce of
mushroom as at the end of respective years. During the growing period, cost
approach is adopted. The costs of direct raw material, direct labour, labour
service and leasing have been considered in the calculation of the fair values for
the growing period and these costs are approximately to their fair value. During
the harvesting period, market approach is adopted. Therefore, the fair values of
the biological assets as at the end of respective years are calculated to be the
product of market price and estimated the agricultural produce mushroom by
deducting the reasonable cost related to selling.

The fair value measurement of the mushroom is categorised as level 3 fair value
measurement within the three-level fair value hierarchy as defined in IFRS 13,
Fair Value Measurement. Significant unobservable inputs are mainly the expected
future cash flows and the discount rate. The higher the future cash flows or
the lower the discount rate, the higher the fair value determined. Due to the
production cycle of the mushroom is relatively short, the impact on the valuation
of the expected future cash flows and discount rate are immaterial.

During the year, there was no transfer occurred between levels in the hierarchy
(2014: Nil).
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21.

BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (Continued)

The movement in the fair value of the assets within level 3 of the hierarchy is as

follows:

At 1 January
Increases due to plantation

Gain from changes in fair value less cost to sell (#)

Decreases due to harvest

At 31 December

(#) Included gains or losses for assets held

For the year ended 31 December 2015
HBE2015F12A31BIEFE

mt

21. £YE&E

E-REFRNEEARENEFHMOT

King trumpet mushroom
and button mushroom

& B R E
2015 2014
20154 20144
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T
M E1H 93,707 91,949
ESEE Lisloppll 203,324 225,134
AR ER BRI E K AFTE L Z W #) 246,716 211,122
FE R M i ok > (490,645) (434,498)
W12A318 53,102 93,707

HEERRERARMFHEEZ

Wz sk EsiE 14,391 29,416

at the end of the reporting period

The following unobservable inputs were used to measure the Group’s mushroom

plantation:
Valuation
Description technique
R RERTD
King trumpet Cost and market
mushroom approach
BELE BAE R T35

Cost and market
approach

RAERT5E

Button mushroom

B

Unobservable inputs

TUBREE

King trumpet
mushroom yield
ReGEES

Price of king trumpet
mushroom
O ER

Button mushroom yield
ERES
Price of button

mushroom

BEER

TIRAEAREEREEMAN T BREE

Effect on fair

value for
Range as at increase Fair value
31 December of inputs as at 31 December
#E B ARE
M2A31R ARENTE M12A31H
2015 2014 2015 2014
20155 20145 20155 20145
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT  ARETT
0.30 kg - 0.23kg-  Increase 12,187 13,257
0.39%g 0.48 kg
0.30RF & 0.23RAFZ %
0390 0.48°AfT
RMB9.05 - RMB6.99 - Increase
RMB9.29 per kg RMB?7.36 per kg
YN SN )
AR®9.05102 ARH#6.99TE
AR#9.297C ARE7.367C
19.72 kg 5.03kg- Increase 40,915 80,450
27.58 kg
19.720F 503RTZE &M
27581 fT
RMB6.19 per kg RMB7.056 - Increase
RMB10.45 per kg
§OF SAF
AR#6.197T AR¥T7.051LF
AR%10.457
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21.

22.

BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (Continued)

The Group is exposed to a number of risks related to its mushroom plantation:

(1)

()

@)

Regulatory and environmental risks

The Group is subject to laws and regulations in the PRC where it operates.
The Group has established environmental policies and procedures aimed at
compliance with local environmental and other laws. Management performs
regular reviews to identify environmental risks and to ensure that the
systems in place are adequate to manage those risks.

Supply and demand risks

The Group is exposed to risks arising from fluctuations in the price and
sales volume of mushroom. Where possible the Group manages this risk
by aligning its harvest volume to market supply and demand. Management
performs regular industry trend analysis to ensure that the Group’s pricing
structure is in line with the market and to ensure that projected harvest
volumes are consistent with the expected demand.

Climate and other risks

The Group’s mushroom plantations are exposed to the risk of damage
from climatic changes, diseases and other natural forces. The Group has
extensive processes in place aimed at monitoring and mitigating those risks,
including regular health inspections and industry pest and disease surveys.

TRADE RECEIVABLES

The credit terms of trade receivables are in accordance with specific payment
schedules agreed with various customers and generally range from 0 to 45
days. Each customer has a maximum credit limit. For new customers, payment
in advance is normally required. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over
its outstanding receivables. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by the
Directors.

The aging analysis of the Group’s trade receivables, based on the invoice date,
and net of allowance, is as follows:

0 to 90 days

0£90K

As at 31 December 2015, trade receivables of RMB Nil (2014: RMB Nil) were past
due but not impaired.
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A

For the year ended 31 December 2015
BZE2015F12A31BILFE

EWE

mt

AEEAGE TEABEEEEEHOER
(1) BEERERERR

AEBEAEETHRE(REEME) 2ERRE
H o REBE HIE A7 IRR REMERES
RBBRR R - 128 EPETRA - AR
RERFRRILERRITHERNAEEZER

-
(2) MHREM

7 S [0 T R T 1% 2 8 28 T 2 A R B O
B o ANEE R A REE BRE TS H MR AR
HRRE - UEBRIARR - B2 EERET
THZBEDIT - AERAEEHEEEBET
58 WHERBEMREBEBMTER B -

() SRR EAmEE

A E R R E R E SRR - RERE
EANBERNEZRR - REBBHEXR
EREERMERERERNER - BEEH
REBREARTESBRBRZAE -

B 5 W

BHRKFIRZ EERRETRZFERN AN
RLHEME R —RNFOE4ER - ERFHATH&H
REEY - HMEFPME - —RERAIR - 1&E
B SSRE AR EEREGRERBRENZES - EFE
TE BB o

AT AARSEZER A HNE 5 U R (kR #
) H BRI DT

2015 2014
2015% 20144

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR#TT ARBTT

124,480 58,854
R2015612H31H - BHEKRABARBE L

(20145 : ARBZT)ERBERRE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2015
HZE2015F12A31 B LFE

22. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued) 22. BEHEWFIEE)

AEEE HRKFIRMREER A TEERNE

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade receivables are denominated in the
following currencies:

2015 2014
2015%F 20144
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREBT T
RMB AR 53,970 58,496
Us$ 7T 70,510 358
Total FE 124,480 58,854
23. DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 23. &%  FAIRERHEMMEKRRIE
2015 2014
20159 20144
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETT
Deposits i 12,480 5,716
Earnest money paid for acquisition of land use rights B iE+ it FEREZHES 87,600 82,500
Prepayments TEfTFRIE 5,878 9,464
Other receivables E At FE R 6,858 15,359
112,816 113,039
24. BANK AND CASH BALANCES 24. RITRBRELEHR
The bank and cash balances of the Group denominated in the currencies as AEBHIRTRRSEHIR A TEENE :
follows:
2015 2014
20159 20144
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETT
RMB AR 982,455 334,812
HK$ BT 29,533 480
US$ EP 2,358 1,227
1,014,346 336,519

1A R SN R IR oh B COME B IR A6 B K
e EERMNEEERE)

Conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is subject to the PRC’s Foreign
Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and
Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations.
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o A & =
:%'I;R (=] /szti%#&%% Mr.l--l;I For the year ended 31 December 2015
BZE2015F12A31BILFE

25. SHARE CAPITAL 25. B
Authorised Issued and fully paid
EE EETRAZE
Number of Number of
shares shares
ROEE R EE
’000 US$’'000 000 RMB’000
TFAR FEx F A% AREBT T
Balance at 1 January 2014 R2014F1 A1 B K &5k 100 100 54 354
Issue of 3,425 ordinary shares %%173,425/ R BREE1ETT
of US$1 each (note (a)) Y A% (P 5 (a)) = = 3 21
Subdivision of shares (note (b)) & 1% 2 47 (M 7% (b)) 9,900 = 5,691 -
Ordinary shares of US$0.01 each & AXEI{E0.01E T H) EiEAR
— increase in authorised — 3 INVETE R AR (P 5E (b))
share capital (note (b)) 1,990,000 19,900 - -
Balance at 31 December 2014 R2014F12 318 K&
and 1 January 2015 201591 A1 B &k 2,000,000 20,000 5,748 B
Issue of 125,000,000 ordinary shares 1R 1% 2 BR# & 2£17125,000,000
of US$0.01 each pursuant A & AXE{E0.013E 7T HY
to global offering (note (c)) A% (KiaE () - - 125,000 7,640
Capitalisation issue of 369,252,100 & At 377369,252,100/%
ordinary shares of US$0.01 each & RXEEO0.01ETH)
(note (d)) Tk (M (d) = - 369,252 22,571
Balance at 31 December 2015 R2015F12 H31 B M 44 2,000,000 20,000 500,000 30,586
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25. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Note:

(@)

On 2 July 2014, the Company issued 3,425 ordinary shares of US$1 each at a total
consideration of RMB70,900,000 (equivalent to US$11,329,515) and the premium on the
issue of shares, net of the issue expenses, amounting to approximately RMB69,682,000,
was credited to the Company’s share premium account.

On 12 December 2014, the Company subdivided each of its issued and unissued shares
with par value of US$1 each into 100 shares with par value of US$0.01 each.

On the same date, the authorised share capital of the Company was increased from
US$100,000 to US$20,000,000 by the creation of additional 1,990,000,000 shares of
US$0.01 each.

Pursuant to written resolutions passed on 27 May 2015, the shareholders of the
Company approved the allotment and issue of 125,000,000 new ordinary shares of
US$0.01 each of the Company (the “New Shares”) in connection with the global offering
of shares by the Company. The New Shares, issued on 17 June 2015, at HK$4.71 each
for a total cash consideration, before expenses, of HK$588,750,000 (approximately
RMB464,025,000) and fully paid-up, rank pari passu in all respects with the existing
issued and fully paid-up shares of the Company.

Pursuant to written resolutions passed on 27 May 2015, the shareholders of the
Company approved as a result of the issuance of the New Shares pursuant to the global
offering as mentioned in note (c) above, an amount of US$3,692,521 standing to the
credit of the share premium account of the Company was capitalised by applying such
sum forwards paying up in full at par a total of 369,252,100 shares for allotment and issue
to the then existing shareholders before the completion of the global offering.

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern and to maximise the return to the
shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

The Group sets the amount of capital in proportion to risk. The Group manages
the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in the light of changes in
economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. In order
to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the payment of
dividends, issue new shares, buy-back shares, raise new debts, redeem existing
debts or sell assets to reduce debts.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the debt-to-adjusted capital ratio. This

ratio

is calculated as net debt divided by adjusted capital. Total debt comprises

borrowings. Adjusted capital comprises all components of equity (i.e. share
capital, retained profits and other reserves, etc).

25. BRA(

For the year ended 31 December 2015
HZE2015F12A31 B LFE

GEX

(8) 20147 A2H + AARE(T3,426RFIREE1E
THEER - B8R EARAR70,900,0007T (HHE R
11,829,516k 7T ) * BTG S E (MR BETHZ)L
AR#69,682,0007T5t AR A B A 5 BER °

(b) M2014F128128 * AAREHSREEIETHFT
BEBETRAZEITRG DT A100R TR EEO0.01E
TEHIRRAR ©
R B - i i EE S R 1,990,000,000 i & AR &
0.01ETHIR D + N1 B H)E TE IR A B3 100,000 7T
#1Z20,000,000% 7T

(c) IRE2015F5A27HMBNEMARFER - XAARK
EHRAERARRETRN BB EMEZ RET
125,000,000 & MR EIH0.01 3 70 2 AR &) # & @K
([#A]) - FWHER2015F6 417 BAGRA.71
BILZBRETETEHR - BRSRECRMKHA
2 ) £588,750,000/% 7T (4 A R #464,025,0007T )
ZERMERARRREERTRARNRHESHE
ZHERERET

(o) IRIE2015F5A27HBBHEMARR - ARARRE
BEAERE _ESCHT () T AR IR 2 BR B S BATHI AR 1 1% -
2N A A AR 19 34 (8 BR HY ik BR 83,602,521 35 T #% i i 1)
2IRBETHATNE R G REIRE ARG R A%
R 3176 $£369,252, 100 IR D BEFREA -

AEEEAEENTEARREEASEREENE
RIFBRENEE  WABBLEBRERLELS
FTRERAER

AEBMZLOIRERREERESTE - AREERE
ARG - WEELERR R E ER RN
BEMAR - BT HERRABREARGE  AKET
BEEPHEIRNARE - BTG - EERG - BA
A BEREEBRHEEEARDES

AEBUAEHEABRRAL R RERERENR -
B R A BB F RS AL AR EARGE - ARAH
BREGR KABREABEREZMBERNS (BE
A REEF R E M HES) o
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25. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

During 2015, the Group’s strategy, which was unchanged from 2014, was to
maintain the debt-to-adjusted capital ratio at a level of industry average. The
debt-to-adjusted capital ratios at 31 December 2015 and at 31 December 2014
were as follows:

Total debt
Less: cash and cash equivalents

BB
ik e RRSEEY

Net debt BEFH
Total equity T AERE

BEHERRAR K

Debt-to-adjusted capital ratio

The externally imposed capital requirement for the Group is in order to maintain its
listing on the Stock Exchange it has to have a public float of at least 25% of the
shares.

The Group receives a report from the share registrars weekly on substantial share
interests showing the non-public float and it demonstrates continuing compliance
with the 25% limit throughout the period. As at 31 December 2015, 40% of the
shares were in public hands (2014: Nil).

The Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements before
the listing of its shares on the Stock Exchange.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015
BZE2015F12A31BILFE

25. BRA(E&)

N20154F « AEE 2 KB (E2014F R T4+
BEHKRABRER L REITETHKTE - BR20155F
12A31H K%2014F 12 A31 A Z A EHLABREAR
LERINRERR

2015 2014
20154 20144
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARETT
10,000 18,000
(1,014,346) (336,519)
(1,004,346) (318,519)
1,453,296 758,776
N/A T3 N/A 73 F

REE B R BB A P 2 £ e 50 BB sa ) B AR
ERBAEEERBED25% BN BARTRE -

NEBESBEERNBEECEEE ZRE @ BF
WREABFREZEARG#EE  WEARAER
REIAN— BB ET25% 2 REE - R20156F 124
31H ' 40% 2RI B ARIEE (20144 : &) -

N £ (B 2 EL AR A B 52 BT _E i A B 2R ST A (T S RE
SR B AR o
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AN H =
:%'IL: =] Eji%#ﬁ‘%% M;.I--I;I For the year ended 31 December 2015
HBE2015F12A31BIEFE

26. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE 26. AN BZ BB RER R EEEE
MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY
(a) Statement of financial position of the Company (a) AT ZIFEARRE
2015 2014
2015%F 20144
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt 7 ARET T AREBT T
ASSETS EE
Non-current assets FRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries R ER AR E 328 328
Current assets RBEE
Due from subsidiaries FEW B 2 B FRIE 453,932 127,694
Bank and cash balances RITRIR S EH 144,344 85
Total current assets MENEEMLE 598,276 127,779
TOTAL ASSETS EEBZE 598,604 128,107
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES EEREE
Equity attributable to owners of NA RS AR
the Company
Share capital &N 30,586 &5
Reserves [E1] 26(b) 556,793 127,110
Total equity T4 587,379 127,485
LIABILITIES afE
Current liabilities REAE
Accruals i EE-3:] 850 -
Due to subsidiaries FEAHHT B D B FIAE 10,375 622
Total current liabilities REBEERARE 11,225 622
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES EERkAEER 598,604 128,107
Approved by the Board of Directors on 24 March 2016 and are signed on EHEN2016FE3 24 BHETH T ESRES
behalf by: E
Zheng Zonghui Zheng Ruyan
R IE Bpan s
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For the year ended 31 December 2015
BZE2015F12A31BILFE
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26. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE 26. ADRIZHBMRRKRRFESE (F)
MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY (Continued)
(b) Reserve movement of the Company (b) AT ZfEERE
Share Share option  Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
BRAD = E B ERE By ] #st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFTT ARETTT ARETT
(note 27(b)(ii))  (note 27(b)(iv))
(FaE27(0))  (PFFFE27(b)(iv))
At 1 January 2014 201441 A1 H 59,797 = (65) 59,732
Total comprehensive income FREHEWELETE
for the year - - (2,304) (2,304)
Issue of share capital (note 25(a)) 1T (FffzE25(a)) 69,682 - - 69,682
Changes in equity for the year FERRERE 69,682 - (2,304) 67,378
At 31 December 2014 and H2014F12A31H &
1 January 2015 2015%1 A1H 129,479 = (2,369) 127,110
Total comprehensive income for A2 E Uk 25 £ 58
the year - - (16,894) (16,894)
Issue of new shares pursuant to  184% & BRE & 21T H D
global offering (note 25(c)) (F=E25(c)) 456,385 - - 456,385
Cost of issuing new shares BIE BRI E 3T
pursuant to global offering A% Ak 2 (19,038) - - (19,038)
Capitalisation of issue of shares & ZAR(LE1TAX D
(note 25(d)) (KtsE25(d)) (22,571) - - (22,571)
Equity-settled share-based R EERD R
payment E 7 45K = 31,801 = 31,801
Charges of equity for the year FAERZE 414,776 31,801 (16,894) 429,683
At 31 December 2015 201512 A31H 544,255 31,801 (19,263) 556,793
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27. RESERVES

(a) Group

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and movements therein are presented
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive

income and consolidated statement of changes in equity.
(b) Nature and purpose of reserves

(i) Other reserve

Other reserve arose as a result of the group reorganization as
described in the prospectus published by the Company dated 8
June 2015 and represented the difference between the consideration
of repurchase of equity interests in Fujian Greenfresh Foods Group
Company Limited (“Fujian Greenfresh Foods”) by Jingxiang Foods over

the registered capital of the Fujian Greenfresh Foods.

(i)~ Share premium

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the funds in the
share premium account of the Company are distributable to the
shareholders of the Company provided that immediately following the
date on which the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company
will be in a position to pay off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary

course of business.

(i)~ Statutory surplus reserve

The statutory surplus reserve, which is non-distributable, is
appropriated from the profit after taxation of the Group’s PRC
subsidiaries under the applicable laws and regulations in the PRC.

(iv)  Share option reserve

The share option reserve requests the fair value of the actual or
estimated number of unexercised share option granted to the directors
and employees of the Group recognised in accordance with the
accounting policy adopted for equity-settled share-based payment in

note 4(r) to the consolidated financial statement.

27. A&

(a)

(b)

For the year ended 31 December 2015
HBE2015F12A31BIEFE

REE

AEENRBESRAREEHZIINGABRER
Hit 2R ERARGAEREEHRA -

fEEEER AR

()

(i)

(i)

(iv)

HE A E

HifEEmAEBEAEES (AR RA
HA2015F6 A8H 2 BIRERZF Tl &
FiR) ERHRANEEREEERDE
BEERAR([EBESERS ) RENK
EEEEFERMANEMEAZENZE
o

Bt 18

RIEFSHERAE  AARRDEE
FRNESAEIIRTARBME - R
BEEZKERSZAHER  ARFRAEB
BEBER —REVBET RIS ER -

ETE EFRIE 1

EEBSRER  DREBETEEREER
HPI B AR B BB R R BRI R R
MBS BT DK ©

BRI

BREFBERETAKEEEHES
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28. TRADE PAYABLES

The aging analysis of the Group’s trade payables, based on the date of receipt of

goods, is as follows:

0 to 90 days
91 to 180 days
Over 1 year

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade payables are denominated in the

following currencies:

RMB
us$

29. ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES

Accruals
Other payables

0Z2 90K
91E180K
1A E

AR
=TT

Rt &R
H At e 50R

For the year ended 31 December 2015
BZE2015F12A31BILFE

28. ESENFIE

AEMBE 5 N FIRRWEE Y B B iR 5 57 0
T

2015
20154
RMB’000
AREFT

41,189
65
24

41,278

2014
20144
RMB’000
ARET T

16,435
20
25

16,480

AEEE S RENFORNREERATEERE

2015
20154
RMB’000
AREFT

17,963
23,315

41,278

20. EETERAREMENFIR

2015
20154
RMB’000

ARBTT

11,762
5,721

17,483
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2014
20144
RMB’000
ARET T

16,480

16,480

2014
20144
RMB’000
AREF T

13,408
6,436

19,844
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30. BANK LOAN

31.

Bank loan repayable on demand or within one year

The carrying amounts of the Group’s bank loan are denominated in RMB.

The average interest rates at 31 December were as follows:

Bank loan RITER

Bank loan of approximately RMB10,000,000 (2014: RMB18,000,000) are
arranged at fixed interest rates and expose the Group to fair value interest rate
risk.

Bank loan of RMB10,000,000 (2014: RMB Nil) are secured by a charge over the
Group’s property, plant and equipment (note 17).

Bank loan of RMB10,000,000 as at 31 December 2015 are secured by corporate
guarantee of the Company’s subsidiaries (2014: personal guarantees provided
by a director and his spouse and a corporate guarantee provided by a company
owned by a friend of a director).

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

Pre-IPO share option scheme adopted on 27 May 2015

The Company operates a pre-IPO share option scheme (the “Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme”) for the purpose of providing incentive or reward to eligible
persons (being any director or employee (whether full time or part time), of any
member of the Group) for their contribution to, and continuing efforts to promote
the interests of the Company and to enable the Group to recruit and retain high-
calibre employees. The Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme became effective on 27
May 2015.

The maximum number of shares of the Company in respect of which the share
options may be granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme shall be
25,000,000 shares of the Company representing approximately 5% of the issued
share capital of the Company upon listing of the shares of the Company on the
Stock Exchange.

For the year ended 31 December 2015
HZE2015F12A31 B LFE

30. RITER

RERSNFAEEZRITER

31.

2015 2014

20154 20144

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥ET T ARETT

10,000 18,000
REBRTERNEEAEAARE;E -

R12A31BRIFHFEMAT -
2015 2014
20154 20144

7.00% per annum
FF7.00%

6.60% per annum
HF46.60%

$RITE M A RBEA10,000,0007T (20144 : AR
18,000,0007T ) JH1RE & F| L5 8+ iR S B A&
ERAREFRRER -

AR#10,000,0007T (20144 : AREZIT)RRTT
BERBBAEENDE - BE REENEFERR
(FE&E17) ©

M2015%F12 318 - IRITER A R#¥10,000,000
TCE AR AN B A R 2 EERIEER (201445 -
H—2ESRERBRENBEARRE—BEEZ
RS KA R ATREN A FHERIERR) -

MRAD B EHE 2 F 7K

RN201555 827 AERMME IR DB EAE
St &

ARBRABRAREEIFERE 8 ([ ERAMH
RERNBRESE ) AAEEEAKERFTNE
ARAL(EFHES (TRl RE)) RIS
B - AR ERAR BN @ E L BRI
B  UERAEBESARENEEEENES -
BRAREE BT 810201545 A27 ARMH
BEGH @

BAR B XA 53 E AT B ARAE ST 81 7] A 5% M B0 BB AR
W RARR ZRH &=E B £25,000,0000% 48 A &
B&tn » KMEARRRIRMD R R T EHEARRRZE
BATRANKISS °
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31.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

Pre-IPO share option scheme adopted on 27 May 2015 (Continued)
The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 28 days from the
date of the offer, upon payment of a nominal consideration of RMB1 in total by the
grantee. The share options granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme can
only be exercised during the three years from the date of listing of the shares of

the Company on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Date”) and as set out below:

- 40% of the total number of share options granted after 6 months from the
Listing Date;

- 30% of the total number of share options granted after 18 months from the
Listing Date; and

- 30% of the total number of share options granted after 30 months from the
Listing Date.

The exercise price of the share options is HK$2.

Share options do not confer rights on the holder to dividends or to vote at
shareholders’ meetings.

Details of the specific categories of options are as follows:

Date of grant Vesting period

R BH S
2015A 17 June 2015 17 June 2015 to
17 December 2015
20156 A17H 20156 A17HZE
2015F12/817H
2015B 17 June 2015 17 June 2015 to
17 December 2016
20156 H17H 20156 A17HZE
2016F12A17H
2015C 17 June 2015 17 June 2015 to
17 December 2017
20156 A17H 20156 A17THE
201741283178

If the options remain unexercised after a period of 3 years from the date of grant,
the options expire. Options are forfeited if the employee leaves the Group.

2015 3 / PR ESEBRAR
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For the year ended 31 December 2015
BZE2015F12A31BILFE

1. ROBREREZ[AR(A)

R2015F 5827 HRMWE IR AR B EATIE
IRRESTEI(4E)

RERE 2 BREATNIZE A MR 28 0 AR -
MARARAXNAEXARBITZRBAKE - R
BERAREERBRE B AR L BEEEN
RARRRGER AT L B8 LT B &
BFERE I AT

— REMBRH6EARITEEREBREAED
40%

— REMBH18EARTHEEREBRIERK
H130% : &

—  RLETAHS0E A& ITEE K H R A
#930% °

B2 TERERIET -

BREY TE THAARBEERRBERAGRRE
ZIER) o

RBRAE 2 R E R BIRHIS T

Exercise period

Exercise price

171658 TEE
HK$
BT
18 December 2015 to 2.00
17 June 2018
20151218 & 2.00
201856 H17H
18 December 2016 to 2.00
17 June 2018
2016123188 & 2.00
20186 A17H
18 December 2017 to 2.00
17 June 2018
2017128188 % 2.00
2018468178

AR AN R BB RASFRAMITR - B
BEEH - HERMRAARE - HBRESTEOR

U o
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31.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

Pre-IPO share option scheme adopted on 27 May 2015 (Continued)

Details of the movement of share options during the year are as follows:

Outstanding at the beginning of the year FHRITEE
Granted during the year FREFH
Outstanding at the end of the year FRRITE
Exercisable at the end of the year RERAITEE

The options outstanding at the end of the year have a weighted average remaining
contractual life of 2.5 years. During the year ended 31 December 2015, options
were granted on 17 June 2015. The estimated fair value of the options on this

date is approximately RMB52,680,000.

These fair values were calculated using the Binomial Model. The inputs into the

model are as follows:

2015A, 2015B

and 2015C
Weighted average share price HK$4.71
Weighted average exercise price HK$2.00
Expected volatility 46.40%
Expected life 3 years
Risk free rate 0.78%
Expected dividend yield 2.80%

Expected volatility was determined by calculating the historical volatility of the

comparable companies as at the date of grant of the share options.

For the year ended 31 December 2015
HBE2015F12A31BIEFE

31. BRIPAERZARE)

MR2015F 58 27 HERANE X AR ER B

IRRESHEI(4E)

FA - BRENZEHFHFNT :
Year ended

31 December 2015
HZ2015F128310 L EE

Weighted

Number of  average exercise
share options price
BRESE InAEFIITEE
HK$

BT

25,000,000 2.00
25,000,000 2.00
10,000,000 2.00

RERKTEBREOMETEORTENERA
2.5% o« MEE2015F12 A1 A L FE - BRRER
2015F6 A17 AR - BARENZ A BN -HEI AR
BEL A AR52,680,0007T °

RAETRAZEAEBENGE - ZRANEA
BT -

2015A ~ 2015B

}2015C
hngEFEHARE 47187
INEFEHITEE 2.00/8 7T
T8 B R i@ 46.40%
SR 3
2 B ) = 0.78%
TEHARR B & 2.80%

a0 IR TR A B A L8 A B M0 S 0
HEME -
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31.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)
Share option scheme adopted on 27 May 2015

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”)
for the purpose of providing incentive or reward to eligible persons (being any
director or employee (whether full time or part time), consultants or adviser of the
Group who in the sole discretion of the board of the directors of the Company
has contributed to and/or will contribute to the Group) for their contribution to,
and continuing efforts to promote the interests of, the Group and for such other
purposes as the board of directors of the Company may approve from time to
time. The Share Option Scheme became effective on 27 May 2015 and, unless
otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years from that date.

The maximum aggregate number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company, must not, in
aggregate, exceed 30% of the total number of shares in issue from time to time.
No options may be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option schemes of the Company if this will result in such limit being exceeded.

At the time of adoption by the Company of the Share Option Scheme or any
new share option scheme, the aggregate number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme, the
new share option scheme and all schemes existing at such time of the Company
must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the total number of the shares in issue
as at the Listing Date (the “Scheme Mandate Limit”). The maximum number
of shares issuable under share options to each eligible participant in the Share
Option Scheme within any 12-month period is limited to 1% of the shares of the
Company in issue at any time. Any further grant of share options in excess of this
limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

The Scheme Mandate Limit may be refreshed by ordinary resolution of the
shareholders of the Company in general meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial shareholder
of the Company, or to any of their respective close associates, is required to
be approved by the independent non-executive directors of the Company. In
addition, if the Company proposes to grant options to a substantial shareholder
or an independent non-executive director of the Company, or to their respective
associates which will result in the number and value of the shares of the Company
issued and to be issued upon exercise of all options granted and to be granted
to such person in the 12-month period up to and including the date of the offer of
such grant in aggregate exceeding: (i) 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue
at the relevant time of grant and (i) HK$5 million, based on the closing price of
the shares of the Company as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the
Stock Exchange at the date of each grant.
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31.

A

For the year ended 31 December 2015
BZE2015F12A31BILFE

B BERZATHR(E)
74201545 8 27 B AR08 AR ESH B

RNATRARERETE([BRETE ) REER
AT (ARRIEZE2RBBERABE R HEHA
SEELERNETAASEESKES (THEH
SRE) - BEBEMKER) RESBRER - A
BREARNEENNEEDLEBRMIERN @ A
RAREEESTRENE AR - BRET BN
20156527 B AR « B BITHUESIERTSN © 8
ZBRI0FABK

RIEF RS AR AT 8 R R 1A B (R ] K A R AR A =t &
R R TT R B PTG BB AR I 1T (R 1 AJ REBE 7T #Y
B RRAH  TREBEBARF TR ETROE
FEHIB0% ° B LR - RITNSIRIRA B ERE
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31.

32.

33.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)
Share option scheme adopted on 27 May 2015 (Continued)

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 28 days from the
date of the offer, upon payment of a nominal consideration of RMB1 in total by
the grantee. The exercise period of the share options granted is determinable by
the board of directors, and commences after a certain vesting period and ends
on a date which is not later than ten years from the date of the offer of the share
options or the expiry date of the Share Option Scheme, if earlier.

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by the board of directors
of the Company, but may not be less than the highest of (i) the closing price of the
shares of the Company as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations on the
date of the offer of the share options; (ii) the average of the closing price of the
shares of the Company as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations for the
five trading days immediately preceding the date of the offer; and (i) the nominal
value of the shares of the Company on the date of the offer, when applicable.

Share options do not confer rights on the holder to dividends or to vote at
shareholders’ meetings.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, no share option granted under the
Share Option Scheme.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2015, the Group did not have any significant contingent
liabilities (31 December 2014: Nil).

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Capital commitments contracted for at the end of the reporting period but not
incurred are as follows:

Prepaid land lease payment and property,
plant and equipment

BN HAETARYE -

31.

32.

33.

For the year ended 31 December 2015
HZE2015F12A31 B LFE

IRAD R EHE 2 7R

A2015%F 5827 B R MR BB IR FEST &I ()

RERD ZERETNIZE B MR 288 REA -
MARABINEHARBITZREBARE - F7
REZBEREZTENHESTSETE  YHETH
BHRRG  MERB BTN SENEZERERH
REH0FRAMBREAESERRRAREE SR
ZE) e

BEREZITEERARAREZSEE @ ETSER
ATFz8SE  (\ARBRMRIEZBEERHE
B2 P AR AT 2 W B ¢ (AR AR N ERE
REH M RER S B R AT A RKAH T
B ¢ R(i) AR RRONIZEE B S 2 EE(RE
A) e

BREY T THA AP ERRBERAG RS
ZIER) o

REBZE2015F12 A1 B ILFE © WERFERE
TR (TR ARAE o

R2015F 12 A31H + AEEWEFEMEARNKRE
&(2014F12A318 : &) -

BAEYE

RMEPRETHERRBEZ EAREZMT

2015 2014
20154 20144
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREBT T
76,247 67,293
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34. LEASE AND OTHER COMMITMENTS

The Group as lessee

At 31 December 2015 the total future minimum lease and other payment under
non-cancellable operating lease are repayable as follows:

Within one year 1R
In the second to fifth years inclusive

After five years

5% 1%

Operating lease and other payments represent rentals payable by the Group for
certain of its offices and production plants and subcontracting fee payable to the
contractors for planting of the mushrooms. Leases are negotiated for an average
term from 1 to 50 years.

The above lease commitments only include commitments for basic rentals based
on the prevailing terms and prices of rental as at the end of the reporting periods,
and do not include commitments for additional/decrement of rental payable
(contingent rents), if any, which are to be determined generally by applying
prevailing market prices of agricultural products when the Group are demanded
for rental payments, as it is not possible in advance the amount of such additional
rental.

The Group as lessor

Property rental income earned during the year was RMB68,000 (2014: RMB Nil).

At 31 December 2015 the total future minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases are receivable as follows:

Within one year
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34.

E2EESFAN(BREEREME)

A

For the year ended 31 December 2015
BZE2015F12A31BILFE

HE K H A
REBEREHEA

2015412 A 31 B iR 1R A~ °] 888 4 & 18 & /9 R 2Rk
SRS R EA T RBTERAT BEALZA -

2015 2014
20154 20144
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETT
14,483 21,598
36,044 24,399
4,612 9,842
55,139 55,839

KEMERAMNFEAREAREE TRAERE
BEREERERNZESUARENABEND
BERA - BOTRN F1 25050 FHFHRER -

AR S A (E B IR RIR IR & HIR A E B R
EERFEZ EREERE - WRBEEIN R
ERBEERAE(HAES)(IF) - ARTAREE
AEZERIEE 22 RAERIEE KRR
AEBFZLNEEFRRERARERNORTHE
MEEE e

AEEEASEAA

FAMERS WA BAREGE8,0007T(20145F + A
RETT) -

2015412 A 31 B iR 1R A~ 1] 888 48 & 18 & /) R 2Rk
SRS & E A RIEREER AT B HUER

2015 2014
20155 20144
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AREET T
68 =



35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R BB IRAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2015
HZE2015F12A31 B LFE

35. BEAR

(a) The Group had the following transactions with its related parties as follows:

Rental paid to a close family member of a director X {1 F—RZEEFHENES
Personal guarantees provided by two directors

and their spouses

MEEERFEENREREHE
FE A FE (R

(b) The remuneration of directors and other members of key management

during the year was as follows:

Short-term benefits

Post-employment benefit

Equity-settled share-based payments

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows:

Name

L

Directly held Ei##55
Empire Foods Limited

Empire Foods Limited

Indirectly held #55
China Green Group Co., Limited
FEGEEEERAR

Jingxiang Foods

SARM

Date and place

of incorporation/
establishment and
place of operation
FEMELIL,/FR L 2 A
ApHREXBH

23 June 2011
British Virgin Islands
20114 6A23H
RERRES

25 February 2011
Hong Kong
201142250
BE

24 December 2001 PRC

20011224 R E

SR kR
RIRAET
UARE SR S E AR AR A AT K

Z
(@) AEBBEHBETNRZZMOT :

2015
20154
RMB’000
ARET T

243

2014
20144
RMB’000
ARETT

24

18,000

(b) FREZRAMTEEBREKXEZHSM T

N

2015
20154
RMB’000
AR¥ET T

1,193
43
9,547

10,783

36. RTBLRZRE

Issued and
paid-up/
registered capital
BRTREM/
AfEA

US$50,000

50,000%7T

HK$10,000

10,0008 7T

1US$17,820,000

(2014: US$13,620,000)
17,820,000%7T
(2014% :
13,620,000 70)

114

MB AR Z BT :

Effective interests held
by the Group (%)

AEERA CERER (%)

2015 2014
20154 20144
100 100
100 100
100 100
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2014
20144
RMB’000
ARBT T

894
38

932

Principal activities

Investment holding

RERR

Investment holding and
trading
REERRES

Investment holding and
trading of mushroom
REZERRESES
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36. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

37.

Name

L

Fujian Greenfresh Foods

BEHERD
ZERRCEM)BBAR
(Greenfresh Foods (Zhangzhou)
Company Limited)
ZERRCEM)BBLR
Greenfresh Ecological Agriculture
Shengtai Agricultural Development

Greenfresh Biological Technology

BE YR

BMEEENNRBR AR
(Zhangzhou Greenfresh Biological
Technology Limited)

BMEEENNRBR AR

Greenfresh Nanchang

Date and place

of incorporation/
establishment and
place of operation
MRz B
MRS E

3 November 1995 PRC

1995%11 A3BH

11 January 1999
PRC

199918118
HE

24 November 2009 PRC
2009511 24 A E

26 August 2011
PRC
2011487268
H

9 April 2012
PRC
201244 A9R
HE

9 October 2015
PRC

2015€10A9H
HE

15 October 2015
PRC
2015F10A 150
+

Issued and
paid-up/
registered capital
BERTRESL/
&R

RMB68,000,000

AR #68,000,0007T

RMB7,000,000

AR 7,000,000

RMB30,000,000
A& #30,000,0007T
RMB500,000

AR #500,0007

RMBS,000,000

AR%5,000,0007C

RMB15,000,000

AR #15,000,0007T

HK$3,000,000

3,000,000 7T

All subsidiaries incorporated in the PRC are wholly owned enterprises established

in the PRC.

As at 31 December 2015, the bank and cash balances of the Group’s subsidiaries
in the PRC denominated in RMB amounted to RMB982,455,000 (2014:
RMB334,812,000). Conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is subject to the
PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement,
Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations.

EVENT AFTER THE END OF THE REPORTING PERIOD

(1)  On 31 March 2016, the Company announced that, the Company had,
pursuant to the Share Option Scheme, granted options to subscribe for
25,000,000 ordinary shares of US$0.01 of the Company to certain eligible
individuals (the “Grantees”), subject to the acceptance of the Grantees.

(2) Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, final dividend in respect
of the year ended 31 December 2015 of HK20.00 cents (equivalent to
approximately RMB17.00 cents) (2014: Nil) per ordinary share has been
proposed by the board of directors of the Company and is subject to
approval by the shareholders of the Company at the forthcoming annual

general meeting of the Company.

37.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015
HZE2015F12A31 B L FE

Effective interests held
by the Group (%)

FEBERACEBRREE (%)

2015 2014
20155 20144
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100

- 100

100 -
100 -

Principal activities

IREHED

Investment holding and
manufacturing of
canned food

RELRREGEEER D

Manufacturing of canned
food

SEEERM

Investment holding and
mushroom plantation

REERKEEERE

Trading of food

EnE5

Mushroom plantation

HERRE

Not yet commence
business

RAREE

Trading of food

RmEH

Ffr G 5 e B 7 11 A S T BT S /A R4 RS R B AR SZ Y

2EBADLE -

AMRITRASER(UARBIIE
982,455,000 7T ( 2014 & :
TL) o IEARKE R B AINEA
Bl RCHEE - SERNEEE

HREHREE

A

(1) M2016FE3A31H  ARFEM * AAAIE
REERETE - B TEERAL(ER
A1) #% B AR 4 LA 3R % 25,000,000 A% & A%

BITAIEER -

EO.01 KT AR B LA - ASEEARR

(2) WMEHIKRE  ARRAEZEESEHREZE2015
F12 A31 B IEFEIR % SR EMAR20.00748 (L
(HHERHARE17.000) (201445 : #) 2K

HRE

MERRFAR AR AR B EER R

BEFERNE LHOERTAMER -



Financial Summary

IR

The following is a summary of the published results and of the assets and liabilities of T AREMZEMH RS ZERRZEAGEEREERA
the Group prepared on the bases set out in the note below: HZBER -

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31HILLEFE

2015 2014 2013 2012
20154 20144 2013%F 20124
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARBFT AREET T ARET T

RESULTS ES
Turnover 3 762,118 545,655 471,490 425,428
Profit before tax A& A 220,437 177,340 153,833 111,667
Income tax expense FrisBiF 2 (2,705) (2,252) (6,047) (10,610)
Profit for the year F R F 217,732 175,088 147,786 101,057
Attributable to: FEA -
Owners of the Company ViN/NGIE 7 =N 217,732 175,088 147,786 101,517
At 31 December
M12A31H
2015 2014 2013 2012
20154 20144 20134 20124
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETTT ARETT ARETT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEERERE
Non-current assets FEmBEE 199,366 187,434 176,670 154,590
Current assets RENEE 1,323,743 625,878 385,881 253,143
Current liabilities MEEE (69,813) (54,536) (48,566) (101,357)
Net assets BEFH 1,453,296 758,776 513,885 306,376
Attributable to: FEAh -
Owners of the Company VNN Z= N 1,453,296 758,776 518,985 306,376
Total equity T AERE 1,453,296 758,776 513,985 306,376
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